Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: January 7, 2020 ACCEPTED: March 2, 2020 PUBLISHED: March 27, 2020

Extended eigenstate thermalization and the role of FZZT branes in the Schwarzian theory

Pranjal Nayak,^a Julian Sonner^b and Manuel Vielma^b

ABSTRACT: In this paper we provide a universal description of the behavior of the basic operators of the Schwarzian theory in pure states. When the pure states are energy eigenstates, expectation values of non-extensive operators are thermal. On the other hand, in coherent pure states, these same operators can exhibit ergodic or non-ergodic behavior, which is characterized by elliptic, parabolic or hyperbolic monodromy of an auxiliary equation; or equivalently, which coadjoint Virasoro orbit the state lies on. These results allow us to establish an extended version of the eigenstate thermalization hypothesis (ETH) in theories with a Schwarzian sector. We also elucidate the role of FZZT-type boundary conditions in the Schwarzian theory, shedding light on the physics of microstates associated with ZZ branes and FZZT branes in low dimensional holography.

KEYWORDS: AdS-CFT Correspondence, Conformal Field Theory, Field Theories in Lower Dimensions

ARXIV EPRINT: 1907.10061



^aDepartment of Physics & Astronomy, University of Kentucky, 505 Rose St, Lexington, KY, U.S.A.

^bDepartment of Theoretical Physics, University of Geneva, 24 quai Ernest-Ansermet, 1211 Genève 4, Switzerland

E-mail: pranjal.nayak@uky.edu, julian.sonner@unige.ch, manuel.vielma@unige.ch

Contents

1	Introduction				
	1.1	Summary of results	3		
2	Pure states in Liouville and the Schwarzian				
	2.1	Boundary Liouville theory and Schwarzian coherent states	6		
	2.2	Descending to the Schwarzian	10		
	2.3	Boundary conditions as states of the theory	12		
3	Semiclassical results				
	3.1	One-point function and effective temperature	15		
	3.2	Semiclassical OTOC and chaos conjecture	17		
	3.3	An alternative derivation	20		
4	Exact results				
	4.1	Computations between ZZ branes	23		
		4.1.1 Bilocal one-point function $\langle ZZ \mathbb{V}_{\ell}(x, \bar{x}) ZZ \rangle$	23		
		4.1.2 Two-point function of light operators $\langle ZZ \mathbb{V}_{\ell_2}(x_2, \bar{x}_2) \mathbb{V}_{\ell_1}(x_1, \bar{x}_1) ZZ \rangle$	26		
		4.1.3 Heavy-light two-point function $\langle ZZ \mathbb{V}_{\ell^H}(x_1, \bar{x}_1) \mathbb{V}_{\ell^L}(x_2, \bar{x}_2) ZZ \rangle$	27		
	4.2	Computations between ZZ and FZZT branes	29		
		4.2.1 Bilocal one-point function $\langle FZZT \mathbb{V}_{\ell}(x, \bar{x}) ZZ \rangle$	30		
		4.2.2 Bilocal two-point function $\langle FZZT \mathbb{V}_{\ell_2}(x_2, \bar{x}_2) \mathbb{V}_{\ell_1}(x_1, \bar{x}_1) ZZ \rangle$	31		
	4.3	Computations between two FZZT branes	31		
		4.3.1 $\langle \text{FZZT} \mathbb{V}_{\ell}(x, \bar{x}) \text{FZZT} \rangle$	31		
5	5 Discussion				

1 Introduction

The Schwarzian theory, namely the theory defined by the path integral

$$\int \mathscr{D}\mu(f) e^{C \int \{f(\tau), \tau\} d\tau}$$
(1.1)

where $\{f; \tau\}$ is the Schwarzian derivative and $\mathscr{D}\mu(f)$ is the appropriate measure on Diff (S^1) , plays a key role in various different recent developments in low-dimensional holography. It appears as the low-energy description [1] of the SYK model [2–4], as well as related tensor models [5–7]. It can also be shown [8–11] to arise in two-dimensional gravity theories, notably in the JT model [12, 13]. Furthermore it allows one to establish results on thermal properties of eigenstates and more general pure states in 2D CFT [14–22]. In all these situations the appearance of the Schwarzian is intimately related to conformal (Virasoro) symmetry and its breaking [1, 3, 4, 8, 23]: an action of the type (1.1) arises as the universal description of such effects in all instances mentioned.

In this paper we provide a universal description of the behavior of the basic operators of the Schwarzian theory in pure states. The philosophy behind our exploration of such effects is encapsulated in the eigenstate thermalization hypothesis (ETH) [24, 25], reviewed for example in [26], and applied to the context of CFT in [27, 28]. In order to understand the thermalization of unitary closed quantum systems, this approach proposes to study the properties of eigenstates or typical pure states of the associated Hamiltonian and the degree to which operator expectation values in these states approximate those in thermal ensembles. The particular relevance of this approach to quantum thermalization in holography stems from the fact that the boundary dual of black hole formation and evaporation is one of thermalization in a closed quantum system, as demonstrated in detail for three-dimensional gravity in the series of papers [15, 17, 21].

Returning to the case at hand, namely theories of the type (1.1) we find that their basic operators — the bilocals $\mathcal{O}(\tau_1, \tau_2)$ — can have ergodic and non-ergodic behavior, i.e. they either approximate thermal ensembles well, or fail to thermalize, akin to the known behavior across a chaotic-integrable transition. Which behavior ensues depends on the parameters of the theory as well as the state, but is universally classified by elliptic, parabolic and hyperbolic monodromy, (or equivalently, which coadjoint Virasoro orbit the state lies on).

This allows us to establish an extended version of the eigenstate thermalization hypothesis (ETH) [16, 21] which includes the usual notion of ETH for simple operators, and extends it to more complex operators, in particular including out-of-time-order correlation functions (OTOCs).¹ Our argument proceeds along two closely related lines: firstly we give semi-classical arguments directly in the Schwarzian theory, based on the relationship between (1.4) and the coadjoint orbit theory [30, 31]. Secondly we use the relationship between two-dimensional boundary Liouville theory and the Schwarzian theory to provide *exact* results, whose semi-classical expansion coincides with the previous analysis. A crucial novel ingredient in our story is the inclusion of effects of FZZT branes [32, 33] in the Liouville description, which descend to certain coherent states in the Schwarzian, as we shall explain. Effects of this type have recently been pointed out to arise in the study of the late-time behavior of a certain matrix model designed as a topological completion of JT gravity [34]. In this context FZZT type states are related to the late-time ramp behavior seen, for example, in the spectral form factor [35–38]. As we show here, these same effects are also seen to play an important role in understanding ETH in theories of the type (1.1).

This paper is structured as follows: the rest of this introduction consists of a summary of the main results. Section 2 describes how to construct the Schwarzian path integral from two-dimensional Liouville theory. This kind of construction has already been exploited in [18, 39], but we extend it here to include more general boundary conditions that allow us to deal with a general class of pure states. In section 3 we then analyze the semiclassical

¹For an argument leading to a similar notion of extended ETH from the point of view of black-hole interiors, see [29].



Figure 1. We obtain results on Schwarzian correlation functions by taking an appropriate limit of 2D Liouville theory with boundary conditions, or equivalently (as shown on the left) with the corresponding boundary states (details in section 2.3). The full cylinder is obtained when we implement the ZZ boundary condition via a doubling trick, allowing us to extend the field periodically. The resulting theory on the torus is then reduced to one dimension and gives rise to correlation functions in the Schwarzian theory with respect to the pure-state density operator $\rho_{\Psi} = |\Psi\rangle\langle\Psi|$.

limit of the correlation functions of interest and in particular provide a general proof that the heavy pure states of interest scramble as efficiently as the thermal ensemble, a result we refer to as *extended ETH*. Finally, section 4 makes full use of the construction of the Schwarzian theory in terms of boundary Liouville CFT to write down exact quantum expressions for the various pure-state expectation values considered in section 3. We also demonstrate that the exact expressions agree with semiclassics when expanded in that limit. We finally discuss our results and provide a perspective on open issues in the Conclusions section.

1.1 Summary of results

One of the main goals of this work is to establish results for correlation functions in pure states

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[\rho_{\Psi} \mathcal{O}_{\ell_1}(\tau_1, \tau_1') \cdots \mathcal{O}_{\ell_n}(\tau_n, \tau_n')\right], \qquad \rho_{\Psi} = |\Psi\rangle \langle \Psi|$$
(1.2)

where $|\Psi\rangle$ is either an eigenstate of the Schwarzian theory

$$H|E(k)\rangle = \frac{k^2}{2C}|E(k)\rangle, \qquad (1.3)$$

or a pure coherent state of the type

$$|E_r\rangle \sim e^{r\mathcal{V}}|E\rangle \tag{1.4}$$

where $|E\rangle$ is any eigenstate of the theory, including the vacuum $|0\rangle$. The operator \mathcal{V} starts its life in two dimensions as a Liouville vertex operator $\sim e^{\varphi}$ that upon descent to one dimension corresponds to a bilocal operator insertion in the Schwarzian theory. We establish that for one and two-point functions of bilocal operators these correlation functions become thermal in the semiclassical limit ($C \to \infty$) in the sense of eigenstate thermalization and compute the associated ETH temperature β_{Ψ} . By definition, this temperature is also the temperature of a canonical ensemble with temperature chosen in order to reproduce microcanonical averages at energy E. We have written the result (1.2) for the case of an arbitrary number of bilocal insertions. Strictly speaking in this work we only establish the result for up to two bilocals, but our methods can in principle be extended to the most general case (1.2).

We will describe the precise construction in section 2, preferring to first summarize the main results in as non-technical a manner as possible.

We prove that both classes of pure states $|\Psi\rangle$ under consideration behave thermally to leading order in large C. We show both using semiclassical quantization of the appropriate coadjoint orbits of Virasoro as well as via semiclassical expansions of *exact* results in the quantum theory that bilocal one and two-point functions with respect to the eigenstate $|E(k)\rangle$ appear thermal at temperature $\pi T_E = \sqrt{E/2}$, while the coherent states $|E_r\rangle$ behave thermally at temperature

$$T_{\theta} = \frac{\theta}{\pi} \sqrt{\frac{E}{2}} \,, \tag{1.5}$$

for $\theta \in \mathbb{R}$, corresponding to the parameter range $r < \sqrt{2}$ for the coherent state introduced in (1.4) above.² These states behave non-ergodically for the parameter range $r > \sqrt{2}$, which formally corresponds to setting $\theta \in i\mathbb{R}$ in (1.5). In this regime there is no meaningful effective temperature to be associated to the states, but the combination of parameters (1.5) still remains important, appearing for example as an oscillation frequency of OTOCs. In fact, one recovers the result for the eigenstates by setting $\theta = 1$, and we explain why in more detail below. Physically, the system shows a phase transition between ergodic and nonergodic behavior at the critical value $r = \sqrt{2}$, very similar to the phenomenon established in [21] for holographic 2D CFT. The resulting phase diagram is shown in figure 2. It is intriguing to see exactly the same mathematical structure at play here, namely the transition between the elliptic and hyperbolic monodromy, or equivalently the co-adjoint orbits of Virasoro. The role of the critical theory is played by the parabolic case and it would be interesting to explore whether the theory of this orbit can serve as a universal description of ergodic to non-ergodic transitions.

Note that we wrote the expectation value (1.2) with Euclidean time insertions, but our results also extend to Lorentzian insertions, and in particular to out-of-time order type correlation functions. In this case we are able to prove a conjecture made in [16], namely that these pure states scramble with the maximally allowed Lyapunov exponent if one were allowed to naively extend the eigenstate thermalization hypothesis to these types of operators. In other words we find that

$$\langle \Psi | \mathcal{O}_{\ell_1}(t,0) \mathcal{O}_{\ell_2}(t,0) | \Psi \rangle_{\text{OTO}} \sim 1 - \frac{\#}{C} e^{\frac{2\pi}{\beta_{\Psi}}t}$$
(1.6)

up to the scrambling time.³ This behavior was conjectured in [16] on the basis of numerical evidence as well as in the works of [29, 40] with an eye on the necessary conditions for

 $^{^{2}\}theta$ and r both parametrize the states and are related to each other through (2.15).

 $^{^{3}}$ An analogous statement is true in 2D CFT assuming identity block domination [21]. On general grounds, on the second sheet, one would expect contributions from other blocks to potentially spoil this



Figure 2. Phase diagram of the chaotic properties of the Schwarzian theory. The theory behaves thermally for the parameter range $-\sqrt{2} < r < r_c$ with $r_c = \sqrt{2}$. The range $r < r_c$ corresponds to elliptic coherent state insertions, while the critical case $r = r_c$ can also be interpreted as the parabolic orbit corresponding to the eigenstates $|E(k)\rangle$ of the theory. In the full range $-\sqrt{2} < r \leq r_c$ we find that the model scrambles with the maximal Lyapunov exponent predicted by ETH temperature, $\lambda = 2\pi T_{\rm ETH}$. In the hyperbolic range $r > r_c$ the Schwarzian theory behaves nonergodically, and in particular its OTOC is oscillatory. See also table 8 for more details.

reconstructing the holographic bulk geometry of pure states. This kind of behavior has already been established analytically in 2D CFT assuming identity block domination in [21] and furthermore shown to be play a crucial role in holographic bulk reconstruction [29, 40].

Extended eigenstate thermalization hypothesis. A physical way to summarize these observations and analytical results, as well as previous evidence [16, 21] is the statement that there exist theories satisfying an *extended* ETH. Let \mathscr{A} denote the set of operators which satisfy the ETH in its usual form [24, 25]. Then, by extended ETH, we mean that operators in eigenstates such as (1.3) and, as a consequence in pure states such as (1.4), approximate thermal ones in real time, up to exponentially small corrections in entropy, at least until the scrambling time t_s . Moreover we include in the set \mathscr{A} more complex operators, such as the four-point OTO type correlations considered in this paper as well as in [16, 21]. Furthermore, we suggest that certain theories saturate the bound [41]when the OTOC is evaluated in eigenstates, as was first conjectured in [16], that is they satisfy maximal extended ETH. One interesting class of such theories we have in mind are CFTs with a sparse spectrum and a large gap, Δ_{gap} , to higher spins [42–45], in other words theories admitting a semiclassical description in terms of Einstein gravity corrected by higher derivative terms which are suppressed by powers of Δ_{gap} . It would clearly be desirable to obtain a better understanding of how far one should be allowed to extend the admissible class operators, \mathcal{A} , for example by adding successively higher OTOCs [46, 47].

For demonstrating ETH in any system it is crucial that the off-diagonal expectation values of the operators under consideration, \mathscr{A} , are exponentially suppressed with respect to the diagonal elements. Such off-diagonal terms were studied in [16, 48]. In our present work we compute only the diagonal elements while the computation of off-diagonal terms will require generalizing some of the techniques developed in this paper.

Comments on ZZ and FZZT branes. An interesting role in our story is played by ZZ and FZZT branes in the Liouville picture and the corresponding boundary conditions

behavior, unless we make further assumptions about the kind of CFT we consider, such as sparse spectrum and large gaps. In the Schwarzian theory the situation seems to be better as the identity block is all there is.

these imply for the Schwarzian path integral. A general lesson is that ZZ branes and FZZT branes enter somewhat asymmetrically, in so far as in the Schwarzian picture the ZZ branes give rise to integrals over the density of states, while FZZT branes allow us to consider non-trivial coherent external states with respect to which we compute expectation values. On the other hand, we can recover the ZZ boundary conditions characterized by the continuous parameter r rather simply, by choosing the single value $r = \sqrt{2}$, so that in practice all the associated pure states can be treated in a uniform fashion. As we shall see this provides a useful perspective on all these branes and their thermal properties by linking them to the different coadjoint orbits of Virasoro, again parametrized by r, with the critical case $r_c = \sqrt{2}$ (see, e.g. figure 2).

Given that these branes and their associated states feature so prominently in the understanding of thermalization in the Schwarzian theory (and by way of establishing this result, also in 2D Liouville theory), a very interesting question would be that of the bulk manifestation.⁴ Since thermal ensembles in the boundary are a dual manifestation of bulk black holes, we are thus asking about the relevance of (F)ZZ(T) branes to the general structure of black-hole microstates.

In fact, in the context of the 'old' $c \leq 1$ matrix model many results in this direction are known [32, 33, 50, 51] and it would certainly be interesting to flesh out a similar story in the present case. For recent work in this direction see [34].

2 Pure states in Liouville and the Schwarzian

In this section we describe in detail how to construct expectation values with respect to a density operator $\rho_{\Psi} = |\Psi\rangle\langle\Psi|$ in the Schwarzian theory. On the way we also explain, in our picture, how to obtain the thermal ensemble ρ_{β} , more commonly encountered in the study of the Schwarzian theory to date. We will adopt the perspective advocated in [39] in order to do this, namely we will start with 2D Liouville theory with appropriate boundary conditions and then descend to the Schwarzian by taking an appropriate limit.

2.1 Boundary Liouville theory and Schwarzian coherent states

In this section we collect a number of results, most of which are well known, both to prepare the scene, as well as to establish our conventions for what is to come. We review how to descend from Liouville theory in 2D to the Schwarzian path integral (1.1), as well as the broad classification of classical solutions of Liouville according to their monodromy properties. Let us start with the Hamiltonian path integral for boundary Liouville theory on the interval $I = [0, \beta/2]$,

$$\langle \cdot \cdot \rangle_{\rm bc} = \int \mathscr{D}\varphi \mathscr{D}\pi \left(\cdot \right) e^{\int d\tau d\sigma \frac{\pi \dot{\varphi}}{8\pi b^2} - \mathcal{H}}$$
(2.1)

⁴The paper [49] discusses bulk manifestations of different Virasoro orbits, including elliptic, parabolic and hyperbolic, in terms of defect geometries in JT gravity.

where 'bc' generically denotes 'boundary conditions' to be imposed on the fields at $\sigma = 0$ and $\sigma = \beta/2.5$ We shall be interested both in so-called ZZ branes as well as FZZT branes, which correspond to Dirichlet and Neumann conditions, respectively. The Hamiltonian density is given as

$$\mathcal{H} = \frac{1}{8\pi b^2} \left(\frac{\pi^2}{2} + \frac{\varphi_{\sigma}^2}{2} + e^{\varphi} - 2\varphi_{\sigma\sigma} \right) + H_{\text{boundary}}$$
(2.2)

with Liouville central charge $c = 1 + 6 (b + b^{-1})^2$. We added the boundary Hamiltonian H_{boundary} in order to implement the Dirichlet or Neumann conditions of interest and to be specified shortly. We will ultimately be interested in the limit $c \to \infty$, corresponding to taking $b \to 0$. The Schwarzian limit is essentially the classical limit of the 2D path integral (2.1) by taking $c \to \infty$ while at the same time letting $a \to 0$, such that $\frac{ca}{24\pi} := C$ remains finite, where a is the size of the Euclidean time coordinate in 2-dimensions. In this limit, the path integral reduces to the zero-mode in time of the fields $\varphi(\sigma, \tau)$ and $\pi(\sigma, \tau)$, i.e. time-independent configurations and may be brought into the form (1.1). A key difference to the treatment in [18, 39, 52] is that we are especially interested in FZZT type boundary conditions, so we describe in some detail how these are implemented and how they descend to the Schwarzian theory.

Let us thus return to our discussion of boundary Liouville theory. The boundary conditions we would like to impose [32, 33, 53, 54] are most easily stated in terms of the vertex operator

$$\mathcal{V}_{\ell}(w,\bar{w}) = e^{\ell\varphi(w,\bar{w})}, \qquad (w = \tau + i\sigma, \quad \bar{w} = \tau - i\sigma)$$
(2.3)

We also define the exponentiated Liouville field

$$V(w,\bar{w}) = e^{-\frac{1}{2}\varphi} \tag{2.4}$$

for later convenience. The Schwarzian boundary states descend from considering the Liouville theory between branes, so that $\sigma \in I$. In order to characterize the branes, we need to specify Dirichlet or Neumann boundary conditions at both ends. The most general case of interest in this work⁶ will be a Dirichlet condition at $\sigma = 0$, as well as a family of Neumann boundary conditions at $\sigma = \beta/2$:

$$V(\tau,\sigma)\Big|_{\sigma=0} = 0, \qquad \partial_{\sigma}V(\tau,\sigma)\Big|_{\sigma=\frac{\beta}{2}} = \frac{r}{2}$$
(2.5)

where r is a parameter whose ranges we will specify later. In terms of the field φ , the Neumann boundary condition takes the form

$$\partial_{\sigma}\varphi + re^{\frac{\varphi}{2}}\Big|_{\sigma=\frac{\beta}{2}} = 0 \tag{2.6}$$

⁵While it might seem counter intuitive to call the spatial direction β , the periodicity in this direction will eventually be related to Euclidean 1D time.

⁶In section 4 we will also give results for Neumann boundary conditions at both ends. We do not currently understand the physical relevance of these states and leave further investigation for future work.

and is implemented by adding the boundary action

$$S_{\rm N} = -\frac{r}{4\pi b^2} \int d\tau \, e^{\frac{1}{2}\varphi} \bigg|_{\sigma = \frac{\beta}{2}}$$
(2.7)

which, inside the path integral, has precisely the interpretation of creating the coherent state (1.4). In preparation for our later analysis of the Schwarzian theory, it will in fact be useful to review the construction of classical solutions of boundary Liouville theory with the specified boundary conditions, and we closely follow the presentation in [54]. The setup here is that of a conformal field theory with a boundary which was first studied in [55] and subsequently in [32, 33, 53, 54, 56] for the Liouville field theory. First, let us perform a conformal transformation that maps the strip, $\mathbb{R} \times I$, to upper half plane, \mathbb{H} ,⁷

$$z = e^{\frac{2\pi}{\beta}w}, \quad \bar{z} = e^{\frac{2\pi}{\beta}\bar{w}}.$$
(2.8)

We will see below that this map naturally helps us to define a theory at finite temperature after the dimensional reduction (see the discussion following (2.22) below), although we will often be interested in taking the zero-temperature limit and instead work with individual pure states. Under such an exponential map, the boundaries $\sigma = 0, \beta/2$ are mapped to the real line, Im(z) = 0. The stress tensor on the plane is,

$$T = \frac{\partial_z^2 V}{V} + \frac{1}{4z^2}, \qquad \bar{T} = \frac{\partial_{\bar{z}}^2 V}{V} + \frac{1}{4\bar{z}^2}.$$
 (2.9)

Conservation of the stress tensor implies holomorphicity and the Neumann boundary conditions naturally provide vanishing energy flux through the boundary, Im(z) = 0,

$$T(z) = \overline{T}(\overline{z}), \text{ when } z = \overline{z}$$
 (2.10)

For the case of Dirichlet boundary condition, this is imposed as an additional condition which imposes the regularity of the stress tensor on the boundary.⁸ The doubling trick on the plane then lets one define the stress tensor on the lower half plane, $T(z^*) = \overline{T}(\overline{z})$, [55], thereby making the stress tensor periodic in the original σ -coordinate,

$$T(\sigma + \beta) = T(\sigma).$$

Classical solutions of the Liouville equation in the Fuchsian form (2.9) are well studied and are organized by the monodromy of the solutions around the unit circle in the complex plane. To see this, we write the Liouville field as a linear combination of two functions $\Psi^T = (\psi_1, \psi_2)$ in the form

$$V(z,\bar{z}) = \Psi(\bar{z})^T A \Psi(z), \qquad A \in \mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$$
(2.11)

⁷Recall that the Liouville field $\varphi(w) \to \varphi(z) - \ln \left|\frac{\partial w}{\partial z}\right|^2$ also transforms under conformal transformations. ⁸Non-vanishing energy flux for the Dirichlet problem would correspond to singularities on the boundary.

See [54] for more discussion. Moreover, this also facilitates the use of doubling trick.

where the functions $\psi_{1,2}$ are defined as the two linearly independent solutions of Hill's equation

$$\psi'' - T\psi = 0 \tag{2.12}$$

with T the Liouville stress tensor introduced above. We then define the monodromy matrix M, via

$$\Psi(e^{2i\pi}z) = M\Psi(z). \tag{2.13}$$

One can show that $M \in SL(2, \mathbb{R})$, [57], and that it is in fact defined only up to conjugation $M \cong S^{-1}MS$ for $S \in SL(2, \mathbb{R})$, so that conformally inequivalent solutions are labelled by conjugacy classes of $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$, coinciding with the classification of coadjoint orbits of Diff (S^1) [54, 58]. The main tool to classify the different classes of solutions is the monodromy matrix M, which must fall into one of three classes: hyperbolic, parabolic or elliptic, characterized by the trace of the monodromy matrix M. We do this by writing the Neumann boundary condition in terms of $V(z, \bar{z})$ as,

$$\frac{z\partial V(z,\bar{z}) - \bar{z}\partial V(z,\bar{z})}{\sqrt{z\bar{z}}}\Big|_{\bar{z}=z<0} = r/2.$$
(2.14)

With the aid of the Wronskian condition $\psi'_1\psi_2 - \psi_1\psi'_2 = 1$, this implies that

$$\operatorname{Tr} M = \frac{r}{2} = \frac{\cos(\pi\theta)}{\sqrt{2}}, \qquad (2.15)$$

where the second equality introduces an alternative but standard parametrization of the boundary parameter r. This equation will be our main tool to classify different types of semiclassical solutions of the Schwarzian model. Following the analysis in [54], we have three cases, namely

$$-\sqrt{2} < r < \sqrt{2} \qquad \qquad \theta \in \mathbb{R} \qquad \qquad \text{elliptic}$$

$$r = \pm \sqrt{2} \qquad \qquad \theta = 0, \pm 1 \qquad \qquad \text{parabolic}$$

$$r > \sqrt{2} \qquad \qquad \theta \in i\mathbb{R} \qquad \qquad \text{hyperbolic} \qquad (2.16)$$

Using the map (2.8), one can write the classical solution for the Liouville theory found in [54] in each of the equivalence classes in terms of a single holomorphic function, F(z),

$$V(z,\bar{z}) = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}\theta} \sqrt{\frac{F(z)F(\bar{z})}{F'(z)F'(\bar{z})}} \left[\left(\frac{F(z)}{F(\bar{z})}\right)^{\theta/2} - \left(\frac{F(\bar{z})}{F(z)}\right)^{\theta/2} \right], \qquad (2.17)$$

where $F(e^{2i\pi}z) = e^{2i\pi}F(z)$.

A further crucial element of the construction of classical solutions described above is that the stress tensor of any solution of Hill's equation for the theory on \mathbb{H} falling into these three classes can be brought to the constant form [54]

$$T^{\mathbb{H}} = T_0^{\mathbb{H}}, \quad \text{with} \quad T_0^{\mathbb{H}} = \frac{\theta^2}{4z^2}, \qquad (2.18)$$

via a conformal transformation. This is the stress tensor on the plane. Alternatively, one can compute the stress tensor on the strip, $\mathbb{R} \times I$, where it takes the form

$$T = T_0 = -\frac{\theta^2}{4} \,. \tag{2.19}$$

We refer to T_0 as the constant representative.⁹ It is interesting to note that this equation is very reminiscent of the trace of the monodromy matrix appearing in the computation of conformal blocks of 2D CFT at large central charge [15, 59, 60]. The difference seems to be in that while these references study the monodromy around operator insertions, here we have appropriate boundary conditions along the entire real line in the complex *z*plane. However, following [32] one can understand these boundary conditions as insertion of *boundary* operators and the monodromy under study in the present work is then the monodromy around this boundary operator.

2.2 Descending to the Schwarzian

Inspired by the non-linear field transformation of Gervais-Neveu, [61, 62], we perform the following field redefinition in the path integral, (2.1). The following derivation becomes more transparent if we use Cartesian coordinates, S and T, parametrising the z-plane instead of the polar coordinates, σ and τ . In terms of these Cartesian coordinates, the field redefinitions we need take the form,

$$e^{\varphi} = -8 \frac{\partial_S F(z,\bar{z}) \partial_S \bar{F}(z,\bar{z})}{\left(F - \bar{F}\right)^2} \pi = \frac{\partial_S^2 F}{\partial_S F} - \frac{\partial_S^2 \bar{F}}{\partial_S \bar{F}} - \frac{\partial_S F}{F} + \frac{\partial_S \bar{F}}{\bar{F}} - \left[\frac{F + \bar{F}}{F - \bar{F}}\right] \left[\frac{\partial_S F}{F} + \frac{\partial_S \bar{F}}{\bar{F}}\right].$$
(2.20)

Under this transformation,¹⁰ the bulk action becomes,

$$S = \frac{1}{4\pi b^2} \int_{\mathbb{H}} d^2 z \left[\frac{1}{2} \pi[F] \left(S \partial_S + T \partial_T \right) \varphi[F] + \{F; S\} + \{\bar{F}; S\} \right]$$
(2.21)

Using the doubling trick to identify $z^* = \bar{z}$, we write the action as an integral over the entire complex plane,

$$S[F] = \frac{1}{4\pi b^2} \int_{\mathbb{C}} d^2 z \left[\frac{1}{2} \pi[F] \left(S \partial_S + T \partial_T \right) \varphi[F] + \{F; S\} \right]$$
(2.22)

This path integral should be understood along with the insertion of the appropriate state along the negative real axis, implemented by the boundary term (2.7). Some comments

⁹We have dropped the Casimir energy part that comes from the quantum corrections since it is not important for identifying the orbits.

¹⁰In these expressions $F(z, \bar{z}), \bar{F}(z, \bar{z})$ are independent off-shell fields of both the holomorphic and the antiholomorphic coordinates. We have suppressed the functional dependence to avoid clutter. Also, $\partial_S := \partial - \bar{\partial}$ and $\partial_T := \partial + \bar{\partial}$.

are in order: firstly, recall that the F(z) function is related to the transformations of the strip, I, by,

$$F(z) = e^{\frac{2\pi i}{\beta}f(\sigma)} \tag{2.23}$$

on the $\tau = 0$ slice. The parameter β entering into this transformation is freely tunable and corresponds to the physical (inverse) temperature of the Schwarzian theory in 1D. This is the well known tan-transformation (SL(2, R) equivalent thereof) from the study of 1D CFTs, [1, 63]. Recall, that the semiclassical limit (of the Liouville theory), $b \to 0$, of the path integral localizes on τ -independent configurations (radially independent configurations in z-plane) and the first term (the $\pi \partial_{\tau} \varphi$ term) in the above action drops out. This also means that the S and σ dependence of the functions become equivalent. In this classical limit, around the generic saddle point, (2.17), one reproduces the Schwarzian action,

$$S[f] = -C \int_{-\beta/2}^{\beta/2} d\sigma \left[\{ f(\sigma); \sigma \} + \frac{2\pi^2 \theta^2}{\beta^2} f'(\sigma)^2 \right]$$
(2.24)

where

$$C = \frac{a}{4\pi b^2} \tag{2.25}$$

is the overall coefficient in front of the Schwarzian action (1.1). Using the field redefinitions, (2.20), insertion of any vertex operator, $e^{2\ell\varphi(z,\bar{z})}$, corresponds to an insertion of the kind,

$$\mathcal{O}_{\ell}(\sigma, -\sigma) = \left(\frac{8\pi^2\theta^2}{\beta^2} \frac{f'(\sigma)f'(-\sigma)}{\sin^2\left(\frac{\pi\theta}{\beta}\left(f(\sigma) - f(-\sigma)\right)\right)}\right)^{2\ell}$$
(2.26)

in the classical limit. Similarly, the boundary term (2.7) can we written as,

$$S_N = -\frac{a r \theta}{\sqrt{2\beta b^2}} \frac{f'(\beta/2)}{\sin(\pi \theta)}$$
(2.27)

where, we have used: $f(\beta/2) - f(-\beta/2) = \beta$; and, $f'(\beta/2) = f'(-\beta/2)$. From this point of view of obtaining Schwarzian theory as a dimensional reduction of the 2-dimensional Liouville theory, the Dirichlet boundary condition at $\sigma = 0$ corresponds to an insertion of complete set of states in the Schwarzian theory.¹¹ Finally, the generic 2-dimensional path integral, (2.1), with operator insertions and Neumann boundary condition on one end and Dirichlet boundary condition on the other after dimensional reduction becomes,

$$\langle \cdot \rangle = \int \frac{\mathscr{D}f}{G} \left(\cdot \right) \exp \left[-\frac{2\sqrt{2\pi}C\,r\,\theta}{\beta} \, \frac{f'(\beta/2)}{\sin\left(\pi\,\theta\right)} - C \int_{-\beta/2}^{\beta/2} d\sigma \left(\{f(\sigma);\sigma\} + \frac{2\pi^2\theta^2}{\beta^2}f'(\sigma)^2 \right) \right] \,. \tag{2.28}$$

¹¹Precisely because there is no insertion of any operator in the dimensionally reduced theory.

We can alternatively write the above integral in a more symmetric form:

$$\langle \cdot \rangle = \int \frac{\mathscr{D}f}{G} \left(\cdot \right) \exp \left[-\frac{2\sqrt{2}\pi C r\theta}{\beta} \frac{\sqrt{f'(-\beta/2)f'(\beta/2)}}{\sin(\pi\theta)} - C \int_{-\beta/2}^{\beta/2} d\sigma \left(\{f(\sigma); \sigma\} + \frac{2\pi^2 \theta^2}{\beta^2} f'(\sigma)^2 \right) \right]$$
(2.29)

The advantage of this symmetric representation is that we can interpret the operator insertion as the one that creates the FZZT states described in (1.4) and the r.h.s. of the figure 1.¹² The Jacobian, $Pf(\omega)$, due to the field redefinition from $\varphi, \pi \to f$ is absorbed in the function integral measure $\frac{\mathscr{D}f}{G}$ as was shown in [64]. Here ω is the Alekseev-Shatasvili symplectic form given by, [30, 54, 56]

$$\omega = \delta T_0 \wedge \int_{-\beta/2}^{\beta/2} d\sigma f'(\sigma) \,\delta f(\sigma) + T_0 \int_{-\beta/2}^{\beta/2} d\sigma \,\delta f'(\sigma) \wedge \delta f(\sigma) + \frac{1}{4} \int_{-\beta/2}^{\beta/2} d\sigma \,\frac{f''(\sigma) \wedge \delta f'(\sigma)}{f'(\sigma)^2} \,. \tag{2.30}$$

Note that while the Schwarzian action in (2.28) has an $\mathbb{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$ symmetry, this is further broken to U(1) due to the presence of the operator insertion at $\sigma = \beta/2$. Consequently $G = \mathbb{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$ or U(1) depending on which orbit we are integrating over. This also suggests that this operator insertion in (2.28) due to the boundary condition at $\sigma = \beta/2$ can alternatively be understood as integration over circle diffeomorphisms f with nontrivial monodromy specified by r via the trace relation (2.15).

2.3 Boundary conditions as states of the theory

Up to this point we presented the ZZ and FZZT branes in terms of boundary conditions for Liouville theory on an interval. In fact, for what is to come below, a more natural way to think about them is in terms of (boundary) states. Within Liouville theory, transitioning between boundary conditions and states is equivalent to transitioning between an openstring and a closed-string perspective. Liouville theory is, in fact, one of the most well understood examples of such an open/closed string duality, [33, 65]. We study the boundary Liouville theory given by the path integral (2.1) at finite temperature, T = 1/a.¹³ In general, one can choose arbitrary conformal boundary conditions at the ends of the strip i.e. in the open-string perspective. The case of Dirichlet boundary condition at both ends, also known as (1, 1)-Zamolodchikov-Zamolodchikov (ZZ) branes was studied in the context of the Schwarzian theory in [39, 52]. The generic partition function, $Z_{\mathfrak{s},\mathfrak{s}'}\left[i\frac{a}{\beta}\right]$, between two different branes is given by, [33, 65],

$$Z_{\mathfrak{s},\mathfrak{s}'}\left[i\frac{a}{\beta}\right] = \int dP \,\Psi_{\mathfrak{s}}(P)\Psi_{\mathfrak{s}'}(-P) \,\chi_P(\tilde{q}) \,,$$

where each of \mathfrak{s} or $\mathfrak{s}' = \begin{cases} (m,n) \in (\mathbb{Z},\mathbb{Z}) \text{ for a generalized } (m,n)\text{-}ZZ \text{ brane} \\ s \in \mathbb{R} \text{ for FZZT brane} \end{cases}$. (2.31)

 $^{^{12}}$ In this particular case, the eigenstate in (1.4) is the vacuum state.

¹³Note that this is the temperature of the 2D Liouville theory. It is not the same as $1/\beta$ which will emerge as the natural periodicity of the Euclidean time direction of the Schwarzian theory in the end (if the latter is studied in a thermal ensemble).



Figure 3. An open string Partition function with generic boundary conditions is the same as a closed string amplitude between corresponding boundary states.

Here, the modular parameter is $(i a/\beta)$ since the size of our open string is $\beta/2$ and $q = \exp\left[-2\pi \times \frac{a}{\beta}\right]$, $\tilde{q} = \exp\left[-2\pi \times \frac{\beta}{a}\right]$. The particular case of our interest presently is the case where $\mathfrak{s} = s$ for a FZZT brane and $\mathfrak{s}' = (1, 1)$ for a 'basic' ZZ brane. Finally, the Virasoro character corresponding to a non-degenerate state labelled by P is,

$$\chi_P(q) = \frac{q^{P^2}}{\eta(q)}, \quad \eta(q) = q^{1/24} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-q^n).$$
(2.32)

While the states given by the wavefunctions $\Psi_{\mathfrak{s}}(P)$ can be written in terms of the Ishibashi states, [66, 67],¹⁴

$$\langle \mathfrak{s}| = \int dP \Psi_{\mathfrak{s}}(P) \langle\!\langle P|, \qquad (2.33)$$

$$\langle\!\langle P| = \langle \nu_P | \left(1 + \frac{L_1 \bar{L}_1}{2\Delta_P} + \cdots \right) .$$
(2.34)

Here, $|\nu_P\rangle$ is the state created by the vertex operator $e^{(Q+2iP)\frac{\varphi}{2b}}$ under the state operator correspondence, with the conformal weight, $\Delta_P = \frac{Q^2}{4} + P^2$. Thus the open string partition function between two branes, written as the integral appearing in (2.31), can equivalently be written as an amplitude between two such closed string states,

$$Z_{\mathfrak{s},\mathfrak{s}'}[q] = \langle \mathfrak{s} | \tilde{q}^{L_0/2} | \mathfrak{s}' \rangle .$$
(2.35)

The states of importance in this work are,

$$\Psi_{\rm ZZ}(P) := \Psi_{(1,1)}(P) = 2^{3/4} 2i\pi P \left(\frac{\gamma(b^2)}{8b^2}\right)^{-\frac{iP}{b}} \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(1 - 2iPb\right)\Gamma\left(1 - 2\frac{iP}{b}\right)}$$

$$\Psi_{\rm FZZT}^{(s)}(P) := \Psi_s(P) = e^{2i\pi Ps} \left[-\frac{i}{2\pi P} \left(\frac{\gamma(b^2)}{8b^2}\right)^{-\frac{iP}{b}} \Gamma\left(1 + 2iPb\right)\Gamma\left(1 + 2\frac{iP}{b}\right)\right].$$
(2.36)

¹⁴Our Ishibashi states are normalized as, $\langle\!\langle P|q^{L_0/2}|P'\rangle\!\rangle = \delta(P-P')\chi_P(q).$

Here, for the sake of brevity we have used the standard definition $\gamma(x) = \Gamma(x)/\Gamma(1-x)$. This duality needs to be generalized for the case with operator insertions to be useful for our computations. Unnormalized thermal correlation functions can likewise be computed using the open/closed string identity:

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathfrak{s},\mathfrak{s}'}\left[e^{-aH}\mathbb{V}_n(w_n,\bar{w}_n)\cdots\mathbb{V}_1(w_1,\bar{w}_1)\right] = \langle \mathfrak{s}|\tilde{q}^{\frac{L_0}{2}}e^{\frac{2\pi}{a}\sigma_nL_0}\mathbb{V}_n\cdots\mathbb{V}_2e^{-\frac{2\pi}{a}\sigma_{21}L_0}\mathbb{V}_1e^{-\frac{2\pi}{a}\sigma_1L_0}|\mathfrak{s}'\rangle$$

$$(2.37)$$

where, we have used following definitions,

$$\tilde{q}^{L_0} = \exp\left(-2\pi\frac{\beta}{a}L_0\right) = \exp(-\beta H)$$

$$q^{L_0} = \exp\left(-2\pi\frac{a}{\beta}L_0\right) = \exp(-aH)$$

$$w_i = \tau_i + i\sigma_i, \quad \bar{w}_i = \tau_i - i\sigma_i$$

$$\sigma_{ij} = \sigma_i - \sigma_j$$
(2.38)

and \mathbb{V}_i are the vertex operators of the Liouville theory. We have also used $\tau_i = 0 \Rightarrow w_i = -\bar{w}_i$. This choice has been made with eventual dimensional reduction, $a \to 0$, in mind.

Finally putting the results from both these perspective together, in the $b \to 0$ limit, we can equate (2.28) to (2.37),

$$\int \frac{\mathscr{D}f}{G} \left(\cdot \right) \exp\left(S[f] + S_N\right) \sim \langle s|e^{-\frac{\beta L_0}{2}} \mathbb{V}_n(\sigma_n, -\sigma_n) \cdots \mathbb{V}_2(\sigma_2, -\sigma_2) \mathbb{V}_1(\sigma_1, -\sigma_1)|(1, 1)\rangle$$
(2.39)

where, S[f], S_N are the actions introduced in (2.24) and (2.27); and, (·) corresponds to the insertion of the bilocal operators given by (2.26), $\mathcal{O}_i(\sigma_i, -\sigma_i)$, in the Schwarzian theory. Also the parameter r on the l.h.s. is related to the parameter s of the FZZT state by,

$$\cosh^2(\pi bs) = \frac{r^2}{2\pi b^2} \sin(\pi b^2) = \cos^2(\pi \theta) \frac{\sin(\pi b^2)}{\pi b^2}$$
(2.40)

For the case of the unperturbed ('standard') Schwarzian theory, we have,

$$\int \frac{\mathscr{D}f}{G} \left(\cdot \right) \exp\left(S[f]\right) \sim \langle (1,1)|e^{-\frac{\beta L_0}{2}} \mathbb{V}_n(\sigma_n, -\sigma_n) \cdots \mathbb{V}_2(\sigma_2, -\sigma_2) \mathbb{V}_1(\sigma_1, -\sigma_1)|(1,1)\rangle$$
(2.41)

The tilde in the equations above emphasizes the fact that on both sides of these equations we are computing unnormalized correlation functions. Since we are interested in timedependent behavior of these correlation functions we will not be careful about the overall time-independent normalizations. Note that in the large central charge limit, $c \to \infty \equiv$ $b \to 0$, the Ishibashi states in (2.34), $\langle\!\langle P | \rangle \to \langle \nu_P |$, so that in our case they can always be replaced simply with the primary states, which simplifies our task considerably. Also, $\theta = \pm 1 \Leftrightarrow r^2 = 2 \Leftrightarrow s = \pm i$ corresponds to (1,1)-ZZ state. This is consistent with our previous observation that $\theta = \pm 1$ corresponds to the standard Schwarzian action in (2.22). In all the subsequent sections, we work only with ZZ-branes of the type (1,1) and therefore we refer to them as $|ZZ\rangle$ instead of $|(1,1)\rangle$. In our notations $|FZZT\rangle$ denotes a general FZZT brane and the parameter s is suppressed. This concludes our introduction relating the 1-dimensional Schwarzian theory to boundary Liouville theory in 2-dimensions. We also related the boundary states of the Liouville theory with different states of the Schwarzian theory. We will now use this setup to compute the correlation functions of the 1-dimensional theory with an aim to unravel their thermal behaviour. Before we proceed to do the exact computations in section 4, we derive some of these results using semiclassical analysis in section 3.

3 Semiclassical results

In this section we make use of the natural symplectic structure on the coadjoint orbits of Virasoro to extract the scrambling exponent in pure states. The logic is as follows: first we establish the effective temperature (the 'ETH temperature') we should assign to our pure states, including the actual eigenstates of the Schwarzian model. This can be done by studying the one-point functions of bilocal operators \mathcal{O}_{ℓ} . We then go on to the corresponding two-point function of $\mathcal{O}'_{\ell}s$ and determine the Lyapunov exponent whenever appropriate. In all cases where the one-point function is thermal we find the maximally allowed Lyapunov exponent predicted by taking the ETH temperature seriously. On the other hand, we also establish a phase transition between this ergodic behavior and a nonergodic phase in which the one-point functions are not periodic in Euclidean time and the corresponding OTOC does not exhibit scrambling behavior. The resulting phase diagram is summarized in figures 2.

3.1 One-point function and effective temperature

We start our exploration of the semi-classical correlators of the model (1.1) with the simplest example, namely the one-point function of the bilocal operator

$$\mathcal{O}_{\ell}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) := e^{2\ell\varphi(\sigma_1, -\sigma_2)} \tag{3.1}$$

where we have emphasized that the operators in the Schwarzian theory descend from the zero-mode of the primary operator of weight ℓ in the Liouville picture. This will turn out to be convenient for our next step, when we exploit this connection in order to construct the saddle-point solutions of the Schwarzian path integral with ZZ and FZZT boundary conditions. Later, in section 4, we will recover these expressions from a semi-classical expansion of the exact answer for the correlation functions.

ZZ branes: Dirichlet condition and energy eigenstates in the Schwarzian. Here we are interested in the semi-classical answer for the correlation function

$$\langle E|\mathcal{O}_{\ell}(\sigma_1,\sigma_2)|E\rangle$$
, (3.2)

where $|E\rangle$ is an eigenstate of energy E. Note that the energy can be defined as the expectation value of the Schwarzian 'operator' in the energy eigenstate, [39, 52, 68, 69]:

$$E := \langle E | \{ F(\sigma), \sigma \} | E \rangle \,,$$

with the background temperature, $1/\beta = 0$. Semiclassical limit of this equation corresponds to,¹⁵

$$\{F(\sigma);\sigma\} = \frac{4\pi^2 E}{C},\qquad(3.3)$$

and, the saddle point solution is given by,

$$F(\sigma) = \tan\left(\pi\sqrt{\frac{2E}{C}}\sigma\right) \tag{3.4}$$

Recall, in the zero temperature limit the parabolic orbit, $\text{Diff}(S^1)/\text{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$, that is relevant for this case is characterized by the following operator (see also (2.26)),

$$\mathcal{O}_{\ell}^{1}(\sigma_{1},\sigma_{2}) = \left(\frac{F'(\sigma_{1})F'(\sigma_{2})}{\left(F(\sigma_{1}) - F(\sigma_{2})\right)^{2}}\right)^{2\ell}.$$
(3.5)

The reason for the superscript '1' in the above equations will become clear once we understand the analogous solutions corresponding to Neumann boundary conditions (FZZT branes). The path integral expression that we are interested in involves an integration over the $F(\sigma)$ modes,¹⁶

$$\int \frac{\mathscr{D}F}{\mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})} \mathcal{O}^{1}_{\ell}(\sigma_{1},\sigma_{2}) e^{C \int d\sigma \{F(\sigma);\sigma\}} \,. \tag{3.6}$$

However, in the semiclassical limit it can be evaluated at the above saddle point solution, (3.4),

$$\langle E|\mathcal{O}_{\ell}^{1}(\sigma_{1},\sigma_{2})|E\rangle \approx \left(\frac{\pi^{2}}{\beta_{E}^{2}}\frac{1}{\sin^{2}\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta_{E}}\sigma_{12}\right)}\right)^{2\ell}, \qquad 1/\beta_{E} = T_{E} = \sqrt{\frac{2E}{C}}$$
(3.7)

This is the same as the thermal correlation function at an effective temperature, T_E . Later in section 4 we obtain the same result using the exact methods described in the previous section.

FZZT branes: Neumann condition and Schwarzian coherent states. We are now interested in the semi-classical answer for the correlation function

$$\langle E_r | \mathcal{O}_\ell(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) | E_r \rangle$$
 (3.8)

where, $|E_r\rangle$ corresponds to the local operator discussed in (1.4). This insertion restricts us to the orbit $\text{Diff}(S^1)/\text{U}(1)$, as was deduced in the previous section and corresponds to the zero mode of a classical solution to Liouville theory with a Dirichlet boundary condition at $\sigma = 0$ and a Neumann boundary condition at $\sigma = \beta/2$. In this case the classical solution [54] can be written as

$$\mathcal{O}_{\ell}^{\theta}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) = \left(\frac{\pi^2 \theta^2}{\beta_E^2} \frac{f'(\sigma_1) f'(\sigma_2)}{\sin^2 \left(\frac{\theta \pi}{\beta_E} \left(f(\sigma_1) - f(\sigma_2)\right)\right)}\right)^{2\ell}$$
(3.9)

¹⁵The appropriate scaling of the energy in this equation is to ensure that we are working with a highenergy state in the semiclassical limit.

¹⁶In the $\beta \to \infty$ limit, the fields $F(\sigma) = f(\sigma)$.

The superscript θ parametrizes the family of Neumann boundary conditions corresponding to our coherent states. We note that setting $\theta = 1$ recovers the pure Dirichlet case, explaining the choice of superscript above. Also note that the background temperature for this orbit is taken to be the same as the effective temperature $T_E = 1/\beta_E$ induced by external states $|E\rangle$.

In order to get the Schwarzian correlation function we still need to integrate over the circle diffeomorphism f. We must thus evaluate the path integral

$$\int \frac{\mathscr{D}f}{\mathrm{U}(1)} \mathcal{O}_{\ell}^{\theta}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) e^{-\frac{4\pi C \,\theta}{\beta} \frac{f'(\sigma_3)}{\tan(\pi \,\theta)} - C \int d\sigma \{f(\sigma); \sigma\}}.$$
(3.10)

where we have explicitly written the path integral in terms of the f fields as opposed to F fields. For $C \gg 1$, this expression is again evaluated via saddle point resulting in the same solution as above $f(\sigma) = \sigma$, and thus in the matrix element

$$\langle E_r | \mathcal{O}_{\ell}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) | E_r \rangle = \left[\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta_{\theta}} \right)^2 \frac{1}{\sin^2 \left(\frac{\pi}{\beta_{\theta}} \sigma_{12} \right)} \right]^{2\ell}$$
(3.11)

with effective temperature

$$T_{\theta} = 1/\beta_{\theta} = \theta \sqrt{\frac{2E}{C}} \,. \tag{3.12}$$

The reader will recall that solutions on this orbit are classified by their monodromy, whence $\theta \in \mathbb{R}$ corresponds to the elliptic class of solutions while $\theta = ip \in i\mathbb{R}$ corresponds to the hyperbolic class. The time parameter σ appearing in the correlation function has the interpretation of Euclidean time in the 1D theory, so that the result is thermal for $\theta \in \mathbb{R}$ and non-thermal for $\theta \in i\mathbb{R}$. We note that this is in perfect agreement with the results of [22, 70] who consider the scrambling behavior of the 2D identity block and finds an effective temperature analogous to (3.12) also in the elliptic case (i.e. for operators below the BTZ threshold). It is interesting to note that [71], who study properties of de Sitter horizons, also find the oscillatory to exponential cross-over of the OTOC, which they associate with the different Virasoro coadjoint orbits. A soft-mode action of the Schwarzian type appears in their work as the boundary action of AdS₂, which has been glued to a dS₂ region in the IR.

We would now like to go on and calculate the semi-classical two-point function of bilocals, which will allow us to extract the OTOC in the pure states $|\Psi\rangle$. We will arrive at this result by using the symplectic structure of Alekseev and Shatashvili [30, 54], allowing us to compute the semi-classical expectation value of commutators of the relevant operators.

3.2 Semiclassical OTOC and chaos conjecture

As discussed in [54, 56], the standard symplectic form $\omega = \int d\pi \wedge d\varphi$ subject to the boundary conditions considered in section 2.1 gives rise to the Poisson bracket

$$\{f(\sigma_1), f(\sigma_2)\}_{\rm PB} = \frac{1}{4T_0} \left(\frac{\sinh\left(2\sqrt{T_0}\lambda(\sigma_1, \sigma_2)\right)}{\sinh\left(2\pi\sqrt{T_0}\right)} - \frac{\lambda(\sigma_1, \sigma_2)}{\pi} \right), \qquad (3.13)$$
$$\lambda(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) = f(\sigma_1) - f(\sigma_2) - \pi\epsilon(\sigma_1 - \sigma_2)$$

between two Schwarzian soft modes. Here $\epsilon(x) = 2n + 1$, $x \in (2\pi n, 2\pi(n + 1))$ is the stair step function, which will play no further role in our analysis, while T_0 is the constant representative defined in (2.19). For large separation $\sigma_1 - \sigma_2$ and evaluated on the saddle point (3.4), this Poisson bracket takes the simple form

$$\{f(\sigma_1), f(\sigma_2)\}_{\rm PB} \sim \frac{\sinh\left(2\sqrt{\frac{2E}{C}T_0}(\sigma_1 - \sigma_2)\right)}{4T_0\sinh\left(2\pi\sqrt{T_0}\right)}$$
 (3.14)

Using to the standard Dirac quantization prescription, this then allows us to compute the semi-classical commutator

$$\left[f(\sigma_1), f(\sigma_2)\right]_{\text{s.c.}} = -i\hbar \left\{f(\sigma_1), f(\sigma_2)\right\}_{\text{PB}}$$
(3.15)

where we have of course $\hbar = 1/C$ by comparing to the action (1.1). We now explain how this allows us to extract the quantum Lyapunov exponent with respect to our pure states $|\Psi\rangle$. The quantum Lyapunov exponent is diagnosed from a correlation function with four time insertions of the type

$$G_{\ell_1,\ell_2}^{\text{OTO}}(t_1, t_2, t_3, t_4) = \langle \Psi | \mathcal{O}_{\ell_1}(t_1, t_2) \mathcal{O}_{\ell_2}(t_3, t_4) | \Psi \rangle,$$
(3.16)

where the Lorentzian times are ordered, such that $t_1 < t_3 < t_2 < t_4$. This can be obtained as an analytic continuation from the Euclidean correlation function $\langle \Psi | \mathcal{O}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) \mathcal{O}(\sigma_3, \sigma_4) | \Psi \rangle$ by defining¹⁷

$$\sigma_i = it_i + \epsilon_i$$
, with $\epsilon_1 < \epsilon_3 < \epsilon_2 < \epsilon_4$ (3.17)

The resulting correlation function then depends on the precise analytical structure of the correlator as a function of complex time insertions. The problem was solved in [39] for the thermal OTO by appealing to the R-matrix of Ponsot and Teschner [72] together with a plausible ansatz about its behavior in the semiclassical limit. In order to find the OTO in eigenstates we take a different route, which also applies to the thermal case, where it agrees with the answer found in [39]. It would be interesting to further understand how these two methods are related.

Thanks to the semi-classical results we established above, in conjunction with the symplectic form (3.14), we can sidestep this somewhat involved procedure. Before we describe this argument let us introduce some notation. For the purposes of being explicit about analytic continuation it is often useful to formally split up a bilocal operator as $\mathcal{O}_{\ell}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) \sim V(\sigma_1)V(\sigma_2)$, and thus denote the corresponding correlation function

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{\ell_1}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) \mathcal{O}_{\ell_2}(\sigma_3, \sigma_4) \rangle \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \langle V(\sigma_1) V(\sigma_2) W(\sigma_3) W(\sigma_4) \rangle.$$
 (3.18)

$$\sigma_1 = -\frac{\beta}{4} + it_1, \quad \sigma_2 = \frac{\beta}{4} + it_1, \quad \sigma_3 = -\frac{\beta}{4} + it_2, \quad \sigma_4 = \frac{\beta}{4} + it_2.$$

¹⁷In the thermal case one instead often displaces the Lorentzian times a quarter turn around the thermal circle

One could consider a similar arrangement by inserting the ETH temperature associated with the pure state, but the above arrangement appears more natural in our context.



Figure 4. Illustration of our computation of the semiclassical OTO by saddle point. In order to get the operator in OTO order as shown, we must twist two of the insertions around each other. Quantum mechanically this corresponds to the 'second-sheet' analytic continuation from Euclidean to Lorentzian times and is equivalent to the insertion of a commutator $[f(\sigma_1), f(\sigma_2)]$ when writing the operators in terms of integrals over the Goldstone mode f. This commutator can be computed semiclassically using the AS symplectic form to generate the Poisson bracket $\{f(\sigma_1), f(\sigma_2)\}$ living on the appropriate Virasoro coadjoint orbit (Details in section 3.2).

This is simply a formal device that makes clear that we may consider any ordering of (Lorentzian) time insertions on all legs, such as the time ordered arrangement $t_1 < t_2 < t_3 < t_4$, or the out-of-time ordered one $t_1 < t_3 < t_2 < t_3$. The order of arranging the 'split' bilocals simply expresses the corresponding time-order of the 2n times of a correlation function of n bilocal operators.

With this formal device in place, the difference between a time-ordered and an out-oftime-order correlation function is given by the insertion of a commutator

$$G_{\ell_1\ell_2}^{\text{TO}}(t_1, t_3, t_2, t_4) - G_{\ell_1\ell_2}^{\text{OTO}}(t_1, t_2, t_3, t_4) = \langle W(t_1) \left[W(t_3), V(t_2) \right] V(t_4) \rangle$$
(3.19)

This relation is elementary, but we can also understand it in terms of the analytic continuation from the Euclidean correlator. The difference between the continuation to a time-ordered and an out-of-time order configuration of Lorentzian times is due to crossing a branch cut in the complex σ plane. The discontinuity across the cut is, once again, given by the insertion of the commutator in the correlation function. We can view the construction of the OTOC from a TOC as a braiding operation, as illustrated in figure 4.

In the case at hand, we can evaluate the commutator by using the Poisson bracket (3.14) together with the various semiclassical saddle points relevant to our pure states (3.4). We thus have

$$G_{\ell_1\ell_2}^{\text{TO}} - G_{\ell_1\ell_2}^{\text{OTO}} = \left. \frac{1}{C} \frac{\delta \mathcal{O}_{\ell_1}}{\delta f(t_2)} \frac{\delta \mathcal{O}_{\ell_2}}{\delta f(t_3)} \left\{ f(t_2), f(t_3) \right\}_{\text{PB}} \right|_{f=f_{\text{saddle}}}$$
$$\sim \left. \frac{1}{C} \sinh\left(2\pi\theta\sqrt{\frac{2E}{C}}t_{23}\right)$$
(3.20)

The tilde in this expression denotes a time-independent proportionality factor, which includes the normalization of the symplectic form (3.14) $1/\sin(\pi\theta)$ in the denominator. This factor diverges at the parabolic orbit $\theta = 1$. We implicitly regulate this UV divergence by introducing an ϵ factor, which we view as analogous to the divergent prefactor in [73]. This expression thus tells us that the OTO correlation function behaves maximally chaotically at the appropriate eigenstate temperature

$$\langle \Psi | \mathcal{O}_{\ell_1}(t_1, t_2) \mathcal{O}_{\ell_1}(t_3, t_4) | \Psi \rangle_{\text{OTO}} \sim 1 - \frac{\#}{C} e^{\lambda t_{23}}, \quad \text{with} \quad \lambda = 2\pi / \beta_{\Psi}$$
 (3.21)

where $|\Psi\rangle$ is either $|E(k)\rangle$ or one of the coherent states $|E_r\rangle$ for $r < \sqrt{2}$. The former corresponds to parabolic and the latter to elliptic monodromy of the associated Hill's equation. On the other hand, if we dial the parameter r characterizing the boundary state through $r_c = \sqrt{2}$ we find the non-ergodic OTOC

$$\langle E_r | \mathcal{O}_{\ell_1}(t_1, t_2) \mathcal{O}_{\ell_1}(t_3, t_4) | E_r \rangle_{\text{OTO}} \sim 1 - \frac{\#}{C} e^{i\lambda t_{23}}, \quad \text{with} \quad \lambda = 2\pi \sqrt{\frac{2E}{C}} p \qquad (3.22)$$

for $\theta = ip \in i\mathbb{R}$. We have thus uncovered a phase transition in the scrambling behavior of the Schwarzian theory,¹⁸ whereby the model changes from maximally chaotic behavior with exponentially growing OTOCs to a phase that does not scramble at all and the OTOC behaves in an oscillatory fashion. As was remarked in an analogous two-dimensional CFT context, this is an analytical example of a transition between an ergodic and a non-ergodic phase and as such deserves further study.

3.3 An alternative derivation

For the expectation values with respect to the FZZT density operator $\rho = |E_r\rangle\langle E_r|$ we can obtain the chaos exponent directly from a perturbative quantization of the action (2.28). Since this discussion parallels that in [22, 70, 75], who computed the chaos exponent in thermal states excited by a heavy operator, we will be brief. The idea is to expand the action appearing in the exponent of (2.28) in fluctuations

$$f(\sigma) = \tan\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta_{\text{eff}}} \left(\sigma + \varepsilon(\sigma)\right)\right), \qquad (3.23)$$

where β_{eff} is the effective temperature defined in (1.5). We then compute the Euclidean correlation function of two bilocals $\langle O_{\ell_1}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2)O_{\ell_2}(\sigma_3, \sigma_4) \rangle$ using the propagator of the fluctuation $\langle \varepsilon(\sigma)\varepsilon(\sigma') \rangle$ given, for example, in [1, 9]. The leading perturbative result, continued into the chaos region reads

$$\frac{\langle \mathcal{O}_{\ell_1}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) \mathcal{O}_{\ell_2}(\sigma_3, \sigma_4) \rangle}{\langle \mathcal{O}_{\ell_1}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) \rangle \langle \mathcal{O}_{\ell_2}(\sigma_3, \sigma_4) \rangle} \sim -2\pi \, \frac{\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta_{\text{eff}}}(\sigma_1 + \sigma_2 - \sigma_3 - \sigma_4)\right) + \dots}{\sin\left(\pi \frac{\sigma_{12}}{\beta_{\text{eff}}}\right) \sin\left(\pi \frac{\sigma_{34}}{\beta_{\text{eff}}}\right)} \tag{3.24}$$

$$\frac{\sigma_{1,2} \to it \pm \epsilon_{12}}{\sigma_{3,4} \to \pm \epsilon_{34}} \quad 1 - \frac{\#}{C} \; \frac{\sinh\left(\frac{2\pi}{\beta_{\text{eff}}}t\right)}{\epsilon_{12}\epsilon_{34}} + \dots \tag{3.25}$$

In the above expressions the ellipsis denotes subleading corrections to exponential behaviour and $\epsilon_{12}, \epsilon_{34}$ originate from the continuation procedure, as indicated. We are keeping them

¹⁸And thus also in the IR limit of the SYK model and related many-body systems [5–7, 74].



Figure 5. The configuration of various insertions on the two-dimensional complex plane that evaluates the bilocal two-point functions with ZZ and FZZT boundary conditions. Operators B are those that impose the ZZ and FZZT boundary conditions on positive and negative real axis respectively. While the tilde-operators are the mirror operators after the doubling trick.

in the final result to play the role of UV regulators [73]. In the second line we have added the leading disconnected contribution which is always present. From this expression we deduce, again, that $\lambda = \frac{2\pi}{\beta_{\text{eff}}}$, i.e. that the coherent states are maximally scrambling at the effective temperature deduced from ETH. Of course we must ensure to be in the ergodic region $(r < \sqrt{2})$ for this result to hold.

We now describe a computation that exploits the boundary-CFT perspective of [32, 33] together with [21] to give yet another derivation of the result above.

As pointed out in [18], the dimensionless coupling of the Schwarzian theory is $\sim C/\beta$, and thus the large -C limit is equivalent to a high-temperature limit at fixed C. One may then take the high-temperature limit directly in the Liouville theory before descending to the Schwarzian [18]. We thus want to calculate the two-point function of the Liouville vertex operator in the UHP with appropriate boundary conditions on the real axis. Recall that the boundary states $|E_r\rangle$ correspond to ZZ boundary conditions on the positive real axis and FZZT boundary conditions on the negative real axis. This means that we are really evaluating a six-point function on the plane in the geometry shown in figure 5. There are boundary operators implementing the ZZ and FZZT boundary conditions at the origin and at infinity, as well as the two physical operators in the UHP and their two mirror operators in the LHP. We formally allow the mirror operators' positions to be arbitrary, as indicated in figure 5. In this way each pair of mirror operators descends to an operator of the type $\mathcal{O}_{\ell}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2)$ in the Schwarzian limit, notably admitting two arbitrary time insertions $(\sigma_2 \neq -\sigma_1)$. It was shown in [21], under the assumption of identity dominance, that such a six-point function reduces to an effectively thermal result for the four-point function of the vertex operators alone. In the present context identity dominance is no longer an assumption, as it follows from the OPE coefficients of boundary Liouville theory [32, 33].

Hence we evaluate the correlation function by contracting each operator with its mirror operator into the identity, using the boundary OPE derived in [32, 33] and like-wise contract the boundary operators into the identity with the result

$$\frac{\langle \mathcal{O}_{\ell_1}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) \mathcal{O}_{\ell_2}(\sigma_3, \sigma_4) \rangle_r^{\mathrm{TO}}}{\langle \mathcal{O}_{\ell_1}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) \rangle_r \langle \mathcal{O}_{\ell_2}(\sigma_3, \sigma_4) \rangle_r} = \mathcal{J}(z)(1-z)^{2\Delta_{\ell_1}} \mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{id}} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\ell_1} \Delta_{\ell_2} \\ \Delta_{\ell_1} \Delta_{\ell_2} ; 1-z \end{bmatrix} .$$
(3.26)

Here the conformal block is evaluated on the thermal coordinate [21, 76] $z_i = e^{i\frac{2\pi}{\beta_{\text{eff}}}\sigma_i}$ so that the cross ratio takes the form $z = \frac{\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta_{\text{eff}}}\sigma_{13}\right)\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta_{\text{eff}}}\sigma_{24}\right)}{\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta_{\text{eff}}}\sigma_{23}\right)\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta_{\text{eff}}}\sigma_{14}\right)}$ and J is the Jacobian for the coordinate transformation $\sigma_i \to z_i$ [21] whose specific form plays no further role in this analysis. Contracting each operator with its mirror operator means that $z \to 1$. Under the same analytic continuation as above we obtain

$$1 - z \quad \xrightarrow{\sigma_{1,2} \to it \pm \epsilon_{12}}_{\sigma_{3,4} \to \pm \epsilon_{34}} \quad -\frac{\pi^2 \epsilon_{12} \epsilon_{34}}{\beta_{\text{eff}}^2} e^{-\frac{2\pi}{\beta_{\text{eff}}}t} \tag{3.27}$$

Furthermore, in order to move from the Euclidean configuration of the σ_i to the Lorentzian OTO configuration imposed by the ϵ_i , we moved the cross ratio around the branch point at z = 1, so that now the block is evaluated on the second sheet [21, 73]. In the Schwarzian limit, this gives again, to leading order

$$\frac{\langle \mathcal{O}_{\ell_1}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2)\mathcal{O}_{\ell_2}(\sigma_3, \sigma_4)\rangle_r^{\text{OTO}}}{\langle \mathcal{O}_{\ell_1}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2)\rangle_r \langle \mathcal{O}_{\ell_2}(\sigma_3, \sigma_4)\rangle_r} = 1 - \frac{\#}{C\epsilon_{12}\epsilon_{34}}e^{\frac{2\pi}{\beta_{\text{eff}}}t} + \cdots$$
(3.28)

Thus once again we find the maximally chaotic behavior (3.21) of the OTOC in pure states. As in (3.25) we should keep in mind that the exponential behavior is true so long as we stay in the range $r < \sqrt{2}$. For $r > \sqrt{2}$ the effective temperature becomes imaginary, and the OTOC oscillates.

The recent papers [22, 70] consider a closely related¹⁹ computation in the context of two-dimensional CFT: they insert two heavy operators at spatial infinity into an already thermal system. The resulting configuration is then again approximately thermal, but at the modified temperature β_{eff} , depending on the heavy state insertions. The scrambling exponent found in [22, 70] takes on the value $2\pi/\beta_{\text{eff}}$ with respect to this effective temperature, in accordance with the results we find for the Schwarzian theory.

4 Exact results

In this section we describe how to obtain the exact results for the Schwarzian correlation functions we discussed above semi-classically. We will also show that these expression result from a suitable semi-classical expansion of the full answers, giving a second independent derivation of our results on eigenstates and the behavior of correlation functions therein. Our main technical vehicle to obtain full exact expressions for correlation functions is the descent construction described in section 2.1, in other words we will find the Schwarzian answers as limits of those obtained in boundary Liouville theory using the identities (2.39) and (2.41).

¹⁹In fact the effective-field-theory of the identity block [77, 78] employed in [22] makes the analogy even closer, taking the form of a Schwarzian-like description for this object.

4.1 Computations between ZZ branes

We now use the boundary state perspective to find the one and two-point functions of bilocal operators in the presence of Dirichlet boundary conditions. This will allow us to confirm our semiclassical expectations above, as well as to show the maximal eigenstate chaos conjecture once more from a different perspective. One and two-point functions with Dirichlet conditions have previously been computed by [18, 39]. We repeat these calculations for two reasons: firstly to extend those results to include extended ETH as well as the chaos exponent in eigenstates; and secondly, to express everything in our own conventions²⁰ before moving on to the general case including FZZT states.

4.1.1 Bilocal one-point function $\langle \mathbf{ZZ} | \mathbb{V}_{\ell}(x, \bar{x}) | \mathbf{ZZ} \rangle$

We are interested in evaluating a particular case of (2.41) with only one operator insertion. Recall, the ZZ-wavefunction can be written as, (2.36),

$$\Psi_{\rm ZZ}(P) := \langle {\rm ZZ}|P \rangle = 2^{3/4} 2i\pi P \left(\frac{\gamma(b^2)}{8b^2}\right)^{-\frac{iP}{b}} \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-2iPb)\Gamma(1-2\frac{iP}{b})}.$$
 (4.1)

Putting together the ingredients we assembled in section 2.3, the expression for the expectation value $\langle \mathbf{ZZ} | \mathbb{V}_{\ell}(z, \bar{z}) | \mathbf{ZZ} \rangle$ reads in full detail

$$2^{3/2} \pi^2 \int dP^2 dR^2 \frac{\left(\frac{\gamma(b^2)}{8b^2}\right)^{i\frac{P-R}{b}}}{\Gamma\left(1+2ibP\right)\Gamma\left(1+2i\frac{P}{b}\right)\Gamma\left(1-2ibR\right)\Gamma\left(1-2i\frac{R}{b}\right)} \left\langle \nu_R | \mathbb{V}_{\ell}(z,\bar{z}) | \nu_P \right\rangle$$

$$(4.2)$$

Let us now start simplifying this expression, starting with the matrix element of the vertex operator between primary states,

$$\langle \nu_R | \mathbb{V}_{\ell}(x,\bar{x}) | \nu_P \rangle = \langle \nu_R | e^{-\frac{4\pi}{a} \left(\frac{\beta}{2} - \sigma\right) L_0} \mathbb{V}_{\ell} e^{-\frac{4\pi}{a} \sigma L_0} | \nu_P \rangle$$

$$= e^{-\frac{2\beta\pi}{a} \Delta_R} e^{-\frac{4\pi}{a} \sigma (\Delta_P - \Delta_R)} \langle \nu_R | \mathbb{V}_{\ell}(0,0) | \nu_P \rangle$$

$$= e^{-\frac{2\beta\pi}{a} \Delta_R} e^{-\frac{4\pi}{a} \sigma (\Delta_P - \Delta_R)} \frac{1}{2b} \int d\varphi \langle \nu_R | \varphi \rangle \langle \varphi | \nu_P \rangle e^{2\ell\varphi}$$

$$(4.3)$$

where, $w, \bar{w} = \tau \pm i\sigma$ are the coordinates on the open string; and, $x, \bar{x} = -i\tau \pm \sigma = -iw, -i\bar{w}$ are the coordinates on the dual closed string. We have also used the fact that we are working with a chiral-CFT with only the holomorphic sector. The projection of the wavefunctions on the φ -basis is given by [33],

$$\langle \nu_R | \varphi \rangle = 2 \frac{\left(8b^4\right)^{-i\frac{R}{b}}}{\Gamma\left(2i\frac{R}{b}\right)} K_{-2i\frac{R}{b}}\left(\frac{e^{\varphi/2}}{\sqrt{2}b^2}\right),$$

$$\langle \varphi | \nu_P \rangle = 2 \frac{\left(8b^4\right)^{i\frac{P}{b}}}{\Gamma\left(-2i\frac{P}{b}\right)} K_{2i\frac{P}{b}}\left(\frac{e^{\varphi/2}}{\sqrt{2}b^2}\right).$$

$$(4.4)$$

 $^{^{20}}$ A caveat for the reader interested in reproducing the detailed calculations: our conventions are fully aligned with [33], but differ in some places from the ones used in [18, 39].

Thus the matrix element boils down to

$$\langle \nu_R | \mathbb{V}_{\ell}(x,\bar{x}) | \nu_P \rangle = \frac{1}{2b} \left(8b^4 \right)^{2\ell + i\frac{P-R}{b}} \frac{\Gamma\left(2\ell \pm \frac{i}{b}(P \pm R)\right)}{\Gamma\left(-2i\frac{P}{b}\right)\Gamma\left(2i\frac{R}{b}\right)\Gamma(4\ell)} e^{-\frac{2\beta\pi}{a}\Delta_R} e^{-\frac{4\pi}{a}\sigma(\Delta_P - \Delta_R)}.$$
(4.5)

In view of our descent to the 1D Schwarzian theory, we need to additionally make the change of variables, $P = b\mathfrak{p}, R = b\mathfrak{r}$, since, from this point of view, we are interested in the $b \to 0$ limit. Recall that the operator insertions in Liouville theory corresponding to the bilocal operator insertions in the 1D theory are of the form,

$$\mathbb{V}_{\ell}(x,\bar{x}) = e^{2\ell\varphi} \quad \underline{\text{under 1D reduction}} \quad \left(\frac{\sqrt{f'(\sigma)f'(-\sigma)}}{|f(\sigma) - f(-\sigma)|}\right)^{2\ell} \tag{4.6}$$

For the most part we are interested in operators satisfying $\ell \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$, in which case the conformal dimension of the 2D vertex operator is $\Delta_{\ell} = 2b\ell (Q - 2b\ell)$. Since we want the boundary states to be of similar energies as the insertions themselves, $\Delta_P \sim \Delta_{\ell} \Rightarrow P \sim \pm \frac{Q}{2} \mp 2b\ell$.²¹ Up to the constant shift, $\frac{Q}{2}$, which will not matter, we get $P \sim \mathcal{O}(b)$. Now we reinsert the expression for the matrix element into the full expectation value (4.2). In anticipation of the $b \to 0$ limit to come, we already restrict the Ishibashi states to their leading term (the primary state) and write

$$\begin{split} \langle \mathbf{Z}\mathbf{Z}|\mathbb{V}_{\ell}(x,\bar{x})|\mathbf{Z}\mathbf{Z}\rangle &= 2^{1/2}b^3 \left(8b^4\right)^{2\ell} \int \!\!\!\!d\mathfrak{p}^2 \,d\mathfrak{r}^2 \sinh(2\pi\mathfrak{p})\sinh(2\pi\mathfrak{r}) e^{-\frac{2\beta\pi}{a} \left(\frac{Q^2}{4} + b^2\mathfrak{r}^2\right)} e^{\frac{4\pi}{a}\sigma b^2 \left(\mathfrak{r}^2 - \mathfrak{p}^2\right)} \\ &\times \frac{\Gamma\left(2\ell \pm i(\mathfrak{p}\pm\mathfrak{r})\right)}{\Gamma(4\ell)} \left\{\frac{\left(b^2\gamma(b^2)\right)^{i(\mathfrak{p}-\mathfrak{r})}}{\Gamma(1+2ib^2\mathfrak{p})\Gamma(1-2ib^2\mathfrak{r})}\right\}. \end{split}$$

We can now straightforwardly take the limit $b \to 0$ of the above expression, giving the final result for the expectation value in the form,

$$\langle \mathbf{ZZ} | \mathbb{V}_{\ell}(x,\bar{x}) | \mathbf{ZZ} \rangle = 2^{1/2} b^3 \left(8b^4 \right)^{2\ell} e^{-\frac{\pi\beta Q^2}{2a}} \int d\mathfrak{p}^2 d\mathfrak{r}^2 e^{2\pi(\mathfrak{p}+\mathfrak{r})} e^{-\frac{\beta}{2C}\mathfrak{r}^2} e^{\frac{\sigma}{C}(\mathfrak{r}^2-\mathfrak{p}^2)} \frac{\Gamma\left(2\ell \pm i(\mathfrak{p}\pm\mathfrak{r})\right)}{\Gamma(4\ell)}.$$

$$(4.7)$$

In writing (4.7) we have made use of the $\mathfrak{p} \to -\mathfrak{p}$ and $\mathfrak{r} \to -\mathfrak{r}$ symmetries of the integrand to convert the hyperbolic sine contributions into exponentials. Also, $C = a/4\pi b^2$ was defined in previously in (2.25). The expression (4.7) is our final result for the *exact* one-point function.

The zero (1-dimensional) temperature limit of the answer is given by taking $\beta \to \infty$. In this limit, the \mathfrak{r} integral condenses to $\mathfrak{r} = 0$. Consequently,

$$\langle \mathbf{Z}\mathbf{Z}|\mathbb{V}_{\ell}(x,\bar{x})|\mathbf{Z}\mathbf{Z}\rangle_{\beta\to\infty} = \langle \mathcal{O}_{\ell}(2\sigma,0)\rangle_{\beta\to\infty} \sim \int d\mathfrak{p}^2 \, e^{2\pi\mathfrak{p}} \, e^{-\frac{\sigma}{C}\mathfrak{p}^2} \, \frac{\Gamma^2\left(2\ell \pm i(\mathfrak{p})\right)}{\Gamma(4\ell)} \,, \tag{4.8}$$

which matches the answer earlier derived in [18, 39, 68, 69].

 $^{^{21}}$ More accurately, we want to insert a complete set of states for the 1-dimensional theory, which is equivalent to insertion of ZZ branes with energies scaled as described here. On the other hand, as we will see in the next section, the insertion of FZZT states is equivalent to choosing a 'heavy' state.

One can instead compute the correlation functions in the *eigenstates*, $|E(\mathfrak{l})\rangle := |\mathfrak{l}\rangle$ of the Schwarzian theory by first projecting out from the superposition of $|\mathfrak{r}\rangle$ states any state with energy less than $\mathfrak{l}^2/2C$. This is achieved by cutting off the \mathfrak{r} integral as follows,

$$\langle \mathfrak{l} | \mathcal{O}_{\ell}(2\sigma, 0) | \mathfrak{l} \rangle_{\beta \to \infty} \sim \lim_{\beta \to \infty} \int d\mathfrak{p}^{2} \int_{|\mathfrak{r}| \ge |\mathfrak{l}|} d\mathfrak{r}^{2} e^{2\pi(\mathfrak{p}+\mathfrak{r})} e^{-\frac{\beta}{2C}\mathfrak{r}^{2}} e^{\frac{\sigma}{C}(\mathfrak{r}^{2}-\mathfrak{p}^{2})} \frac{\Gamma\left(2\ell \pm i(\mathfrak{p}\pm\mathfrak{r})\right)}{\Gamma(4\ell)}$$

$$\sim \mathfrak{l} \sinh(2\pi\mathfrak{l}) \int d\mathfrak{p}^{2} e^{2\pi\mathfrak{p}-\frac{\sigma}{C}(\mathfrak{p}^{2}-\mathfrak{l}^{2})} \frac{\Gamma\left(2\ell \pm i(\mathfrak{p}\pm\mathfrak{l})\right)}{\Gamma(4\ell)}$$

$$(4.9)$$

One can think of this cut-off prescription as follows: an ensemble of states,

$$\rho = e^{-\beta H} |\Psi\rangle \langle\Psi| \xrightarrow{\beta \to \infty} |E_{\text{low}}\rangle \langle E_{\text{low}}|$$
(4.10)

where $|E_{\text{low}}\rangle$ is the lowest energy state that appears in the wavefunction $|\Psi\rangle$. By introducing the cut-off we work with a wavefunction whose lowest energy state is the one corresponding to $E_{\text{low}} = E(\mathfrak{l}) = \mathfrak{l}^2/(2C)$. Taking $\beta \to \infty$ with the original ZZ wavefunction gives us the vacuum expectation value, (4.8), because the lowest energy state in ZZ-wavefunction corresponds to $\mathfrak{l} = 0$.

Semiclassical limit. Next, let us evaluate the integral appearing in (4.7) in the $C \sim a/b^2 \to \infty$ limit using the saddle point analysis. We start by performing the following change of variables, $\mathfrak{p} + \mathfrak{r} = \frac{aM}{b^2}$ and $\mathfrak{p} - \mathfrak{r} = \omega$. To evaluate this integral, one may integrate ω exactly, noting that is precisely a Mellin-Barnes type integral, [79] and then solve the remaining M integral via saddle point. Keeping only the leading terms as $C \to \infty$ we find

$$M_* = \frac{2a}{\beta} \tag{4.11}$$

Finally, the semiclassical limit of the correlation function becomes

$$\langle \text{ZZ}|\mathbb{V}_{\ell}(x,\bar{x})|\text{ZZ}\rangle \sim \frac{2^{3/2}M_{*}^{2}}{2b} \left(8b^{4}\right)^{2\ell} \frac{1}{2b^{2}} \left(2\pi e^{\frac{2C\pi^{2}}{\beta}}\right) \left(\frac{1}{2\sin\left(\frac{2\pi}{\beta}\sigma\right)}\right)^{4\ell}.$$
 (4.12)

To analyze the operator expectation value in the high energy eigenstates, let us consider (4.9) with $l \sim O(C)$. In this case, consider $\mathfrak{p} = l + m$,

$$\langle \mathfrak{l} | \mathcal{O}_{\ell}(2\sigma,0) | \mathfrak{l} \rangle_{\substack{\beta \to \infty \\ \mathfrak{l} \sim C}} \sim \mathfrak{l} \sinh(2\pi \mathfrak{l}) \int dm \, (\mathfrak{l}+m) e^{2\pi(\mathfrak{l}+m) - \frac{\sigma}{C}(2\mathfrak{l}m+m^2)} \, \frac{\Gamma\left(2\ell \pm i(2\mathfrak{l}+m)\right) \Gamma\left(2\ell \pm im\right)}{\Gamma(4\ell)} \\ \sim \mathfrak{l}^2 \sinh(2\pi \mathfrak{l})(2\mathfrak{l})^{4\ell-1} \int dm \, e^{\pi m - \frac{2\sigma\mathfrak{l}m}{C}} \, \frac{\Gamma\left(2\ell \pm im\right)}{\Gamma(4\ell)} \\ \sim \left(\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{i\sin\left(\frac{2\pi\mathfrak{l}}{C}\sigma\right)}\right)^{4\ell}$$

$$(4.13)$$

The effective temperature due to the heavy state is given by, $T_{\text{eff}} = \mathfrak{l}/C = \sqrt{2E(\mathfrak{l})/C}$. This is consistent with the answer that we obtained in (3.7).

4.1.2 Two-point function of light operators $\langle ZZ | \mathbb{V}_{\ell_2}(x_2, \bar{x}_2) \mathbb{V}_{\ell_1}(x_1, \bar{x}_1) | ZZ \rangle$

We have now shown that the insertion of ZZ branes in the 2D picture allows us to study Schwarzian expectation values either at finite temperature, or using the projection trick, with respect to the eigenstates of the theory. We now move on to higher-point correlators of operators of weight $\mathcal{O}(1)$ and the interesting physics associated to them. To this end, we study the time ordered correlation function, $\langle ZZ | \mathbb{V}_{\ell_2}(x_2, \bar{x}_2) \mathbb{V}_{\ell_1}(x_1, \bar{x}_1) | ZZ \rangle$. Because of the dimensional reduction combined with the doubling trick described in section 2.3, from the 1-dimensional point of view we get a configuration of bilocal operator insertion with $-\pi < -\sigma_2 < -\sigma_1 < 0 < \sigma_1 < \sigma_2 < \pi$. In the Liouville theory the expression of this correlation function is,

$$\langle \mathbf{ZZ} | \mathbb{V}_{\ell_2}(x_2, \bar{x}_2) \mathbb{V}_{\ell_1}(x_1, \bar{x}_1) | \mathbf{ZZ} \rangle = 2^{3/2} \pi^2 \int dP^2 \, dR^2 \frac{\left(\pi \mu \gamma(b^2)\right)^{i\frac{P-R}{b}}}{\Gamma\left(1 + 2ibP\right)\Gamma\left(1 + 2i\frac{P}{b}\right)}$$

$$\times \frac{\langle \nu_R | \mathbb{V}_{\ell_2}(x_2, \bar{x}_2) \mathbb{V}_{\ell_1}(x_1, \bar{x}_1) | \nu_P \rangle}{\Gamma\left(1 - 2ibR\right)\Gamma\left(1 - 2i\frac{R}{b}\right)}$$

$$(4.14)$$

which, in 1-dimension, reduces to,

$$\sim \int d\mathfrak{p}^2 \, d\mathfrak{r}^2 d\mathfrak{d}^2 \, \sinh\left(2\pi\mathfrak{d}\right) \sinh\left(2\pi\mathfrak{p}\right) \sinh\left(2\pi\mathfrak{r}\right) \frac{\Gamma\left(2\ell_2 \pm i(\mathfrak{r}\pm\mathfrak{d})\right)}{\Gamma(4\ell_2)} \, \frac{\Gamma\left(2\ell_1 \pm i(\mathfrak{d}\pm\mathfrak{p})\right)}{\Gamma(4\ell_1)} \\ \times \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2C} \left(\beta\mathfrak{r}^2 + 2\sigma_2(\mathfrak{d}^2 - \mathfrak{r}^2) + 2\sigma_1(\mathfrak{p}^2 - \mathfrak{d}^2)\right)\right] \tag{4.15}$$

The Lyapunov exponent for the Schwarzian theory in the thermal ensemble has already been computed from the OTO two-point function of bilocals in [18, 39] using the ZZ-brane perspective. Here our main interest is in using the projection trick of section 4.1.1 to instead compute the Lyapunov exponent with respect to the eigenstate density operator $|E\rangle\langle E|$, which is the main object of interest in this paper. Applying the projection trick discussed previously to (4.15) results in the expression,

$$\sim \lim_{\beta \to \infty} \int d\mathfrak{p}^2 d\mathfrak{d}^2 \int_{|\mathfrak{r}| \ge |\mathfrak{l}|} d\mathfrak{r}^2 \sinh(2\pi\mathfrak{d}) \sinh(2\pi\mathfrak{p}) \sinh(2\pi\mathfrak{r}) \frac{\Gamma(2\ell_2 \pm i(\mathfrak{r} \pm \mathfrak{d}))}{\Gamma(4\ell_2)} \frac{\Gamma(2\ell_1 \pm i(\mathfrak{d} \pm \mathfrak{p}))}{\Gamma(4\ell_1)}$$

$$\times \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2C} \left(\beta\mathfrak{r}^2 + 2\sigma_2(\mathfrak{d}^2 - \mathfrak{r}^2) + 2\sigma_1(\mathfrak{p}^2 - \mathfrak{d}^2)\right)\right]$$

$$\sim \mathfrak{l}\sinh(2\pi\mathfrak{l}) \int d\mathfrak{p}^2 d\mathfrak{d}^2 \sinh(2\pi\mathfrak{d}) \sinh(2\pi\mathfrak{p}) \frac{\Gamma(2\ell_2 \pm i(\mathfrak{l} \pm \mathfrak{d}))}{\Gamma(4\ell_2)} \frac{\Gamma(2\ell_1 \pm i(\mathfrak{d} \pm \mathfrak{p}))}{\Gamma(4\ell_1)}$$

$$\times \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2C} \left(2\sigma_2(\mathfrak{d}^2 - \mathfrak{l}^2) + 2\sigma_1(\mathfrak{p}^2 - \mathfrak{d}^2)\right)\right]$$

$$(4.16)$$

In order to make contact with our semi-classical results on chaos in eigenstate 3.2 we also need an expression for the OTO version of the above. This can be formally achieved by insertion the *R*-matrix of [72], analogous to the thermal case worked out in [39],

$$\langle \mathbf{ZZ} | \mathbb{V}_{\ell_2}(x_2, \bar{x}_2) \mathbb{V}_{\ell_1}(x_1, \bar{x}_1) | \mathbf{ZZ} \rangle_{\text{OTOC}} = = \int d\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} d\mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} d\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s d\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_t \, C(-\mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}, 2\ell_2, \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s) C(-\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s, 2\ell_1, \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}) \, \Psi_{\mathbf{ZZ}}(b\mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}) \Psi_{\mathbf{ZZ}}(-b\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}) \times R_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s \, \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_t} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_2 & 2\ell_1 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_t} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_1 & 2\ell_2 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_2 & 2\ell_1 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_2 & 2\ell_1 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_2 & 2\ell_1 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_2 & 2\ell_1 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_2 & 2\ell_1 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_2 & 2\ell_1 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_2 & 2\ell_1 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_2 & 2\ell_1 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_2 & 2\ell_1 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_2 & 2\ell_1 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_2 & 2\ell_1 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_1 & 2\ell_2 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_1 & 2\ell_2 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_1 & 2\ell_2 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_1 & 2\ell_2 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_1 & 2\ell_2 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_1 & 2\ell_2 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_1 & 2\ell_2 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_1 & 2\ell_2 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_1 & 2\ell_2 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_1 & 2\ell_2 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_1 & 2\ell_2 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_1 & 2\ell_2 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_1 & 2\ell_2 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} & \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_1 & 2\ell_2 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} & 2\ell_2 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_1 & 2\ell_2 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} & 2\ell_2 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_1 & 2\ell_2 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} & 2\ell_2 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}_s} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} 2\ell_1 & 2\ell_2 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} & 2\ell_2 \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \mathcal{F$$

where $C(y_1, y_2, y_3)$ is the DOZZ three-point function, [80, 81]. After reduction to 1dimension we obtain a final answer,

$$\frac{\langle O_{\ell_2}(\sigma_3, \sigma_4) O_{\ell_1}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) \rangle}{\langle O_{\ell_2}(\sigma_3, \sigma_4) \rangle \langle O_{\ell_1}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) \rangle} \sim \int d\mathfrak{p}^2 d\mathfrak{r}^2 d\mathfrak{p}_s^2 d\mathfrak{p}_t^2 \sinh(2\pi\mathfrak{p}) \sinh(2\pi\mathfrak{r}) \sinh(2\pi\mathfrak{p}_s) \sinh(2\pi\mathfrak{p}_s) \sinh(2\pi\mathfrak{p}_s) \sinh(2\pi\mathfrak{p}_s) \\ \times R_{\mathfrak{p}_s \mathfrak{p}_t} \begin{bmatrix} 2\ell_2 \ 2\ell_1 \\ \mathfrak{r} \ \mathfrak{p} \end{bmatrix} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2C} \left(\mathfrak{p}^2(\beta - \sigma_{41}) - \mathfrak{p}_t^2 \sigma_{31} - \mathfrak{r}^2 \sigma_{32} - \mathfrak{p}_s^2 \sigma_{41} \right) \right] \\ \times \frac{\sqrt{\Gamma(2\ell_1 \pm i(\mathfrak{p} \pm \mathfrak{p}_t))\Gamma(2\ell_2 \pm i(\mathfrak{r} \pm \mathfrak{p}_t))\Gamma(2\ell_1 \pm i(\mathfrak{r} \pm \mathfrak{p}_s))\Gamma(2\ell_2 \pm i(\mathfrak{p} \pm \mathfrak{p}_s))}{\Gamma(4\ell_1)\Gamma(4\ell_2)} \tag{4.18}$$

In the above and subsequent equations, we have generalized the placement of the operators to arbitrary points σ_i , with the ordering, $-\beta/2 < \sigma_1 < \sigma_2 < \sigma_3 < \sigma_4 < \beta$. The R-matrix, $R_{\mathfrak{p}_s\mathfrak{p}_t}\begin{bmatrix} 2\ell_2 & 2\ell_1\\ \mathfrak{r} & \mathfrak{p} \end{bmatrix}$ is related to the 6-j symbols of SL(2, \mathbb{R}). Its expression is rather daunting and we refer the reader to appendix B of [39].

However, we can bypass this procedure by appealing to our results in section 3.3 and express the OTO correlation function in terms of the identity Virasoro block

$$\frac{\langle \mathcal{O}_{\ell_1}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) \mathcal{O}_{\ell_2}(\sigma_3, \sigma_4) \rangle}{\langle \mathcal{O}_{\ell_1}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) \rangle \langle \mathcal{O}_{\ell_2}(\sigma_3, \sigma_4) \rangle} \sim y^{2\Delta_{\ell_1}} \mathcal{F}_{id} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\ell_1} \Delta_{\ell_2} \\ \Delta_{\ell_1} \Delta_{\ell_2} \end{bmatrix}; y \end{bmatrix},$$
(4.19)

where y = 1 - z, as defined in (3.26) and (3.27) above. Note that we had to pass to the semiclassical limit $C \to \infty$ in order to establish this result. We see, once more, that the large-C expansion of the full result (4.17) agrees with our direct semiclassical evaluation, confirming that the eigenstates of the Schwarzian are maximally scrambling with Lyapunov exponent $2\pi/\beta_{\text{eff}}$.

4.1.3 Heavy-light two-point function $\langle \mathbf{ZZ} | \mathbb{V}_{\ell^H}(x_1, \bar{x}_1) \mathbb{V}_{\ell^L}(x_2, \bar{x}_2) | \mathbf{ZZ} \rangle$

We next want to study the effect of inserting heavy operators on the (effective) temperature as perceived by light operators. We evaluate the 4-point function, (4.15), with a heavy operator, $\mathbb{V}_{\ell_1} = \mathbb{V}_{\ell^H}$ with $\ell^H \sim C$ and a light operator $\mathbb{V}_{\ell_2} = \mathbb{V}_{\ell^L}$ with $\ell^L \sim 1$, in the classical limit to study ETH. Since the dimensionless parameter in our problem is C/β , the classical zero temperature limit can be taken in two ways: $C/\beta \to \infty$ with β fixed, followed by $\beta \to \infty$; or, by taking $C, \beta \to \infty$ simultaneously such that $\mathfrak{C} = C/\beta$ is finite followed by $\mathfrak{C} \to \infty$. We find that the thermal behaviour of this 4-point function depends on the order of limits. $C/\beta \to \infty$ with β fixed, followed by $\beta \to \infty$. In this limit, we perform a change of variables $\mathfrak{r}^2 = \mathfrak{d}^2 + m$. Consequently, the $\mathfrak{p}, \mathfrak{d}$ integrals are performed using saddle point analysis while the *m* integral is done using the Mellin-Barnes technique discussed above.

$$\sim \int d\mathfrak{p}^2 \, d\mathfrak{d}^2 \, \mathfrak{d}^{4\ell^L} \sinh\left(2\pi\mathfrak{p}\right) \sinh\left(2\pi\mathfrak{d}\right) \frac{\Gamma\left(2\ell^H \pm i(\mathfrak{p} \pm \mathfrak{d})\right)}{\Gamma(4\ell^H)} \\ \times \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2C}\left(\beta\mathfrak{d}^2 + 2\sigma_1\left(\mathfrak{p}^2 - \mathfrak{d}^2\right)\right)\right] \times \left[\frac{\mathfrak{d}}{\sin\left(\frac{\mathfrak{d}}{2C}\left(\beta - 2\sigma_2\right)\right)}\right]^{4\ell^L}$$
(4.20)

The saddle point equations, in the variables \mathfrak{p} and \mathfrak{d} , of the above integral are,

$$\tan(x\omega) = -\frac{4\omega\ell_{sc}}{4\tilde{\omega}^2 - 4\omega^2 + \ell_{sc}^2} \quad \text{assuming} \quad 4\tilde{\omega}^2 - 4\omega^2 + \ell_{sc}^2 \neq 0 \quad (4.21a)$$

$$\tan\left(\tilde{\omega}(\beta-x)\right) = -\frac{4\tilde{\omega}\ell_{sc}}{4\omega^2 - 4\tilde{\omega}^2 + \ell_{sc}^2} \quad \text{assuming} \quad 4\omega^2 - 4\tilde{\omega}^2 + \ell_{sc}^2 \neq 0. \quad (4.21\text{b})$$

For simplicity, here we have scaled the variables as follows,

$$\omega = \frac{\mathfrak{d}}{2C}, \quad \tilde{\omega} = \frac{\mathfrak{p}}{2C}, \quad \ell_{sc} = \frac{2\ell^H}{C}, \quad x = 2\sigma_1.$$
(4.22)

While these equations are transcendental and thus not exactly solvable, we can find the solutions for $\omega, \tilde{\omega}$ is special limits. Note that the solutions of these variables depend on the separation of the heavy insertions, x. We take $x = \beta/2$. At this value of x, both equations are equivalent to

$$\tan\left(\frac{\beta}{2}\omega\right) = -\frac{4\omega}{\ell_{sc}}.$$
(4.23)

For very large values of ℓ_{sc} , the solutions of this equation are given by,

$$\omega_n = 2n \frac{\pi}{\beta} - \mathfrak{c}_n, \quad \text{where, } \mathfrak{c}_n = \frac{16\pi n}{\beta(\beta\ell_{sc} + 8)}, \quad n \in \mathbb{Z},$$
$$\Rightarrow T_{\text{eff}} = \frac{1}{\beta_{\text{eff}}} = \frac{\omega_n}{\pi} = \frac{2nT\ell_{sc}}{\ell_{sc} + 8T}.$$
(4.24)

Here, $T = 1/\beta$ is the background temperature that we began with; $T_{\text{eff}} = 1/\beta_{\text{eff}}$ is the effective temperature perceived by the light operator in the presence of the heavy insertions,

$$\frac{\langle \mathcal{O}_{\ell^H} \mathcal{O}_{\ell^L} \mathcal{O}_{\ell^L} \mathcal{O}_{\ell^H} \rangle}{\langle \mathcal{O}_{\ell^H} \mathcal{O}_{\ell^H} \rangle} \sim \left(\frac{\pi}{\beta_{\text{eff}} \sin\left(\frac{2\pi\sigma_2}{\beta_{\text{eff}}}\right)} \right)^{4\ell^L} . \tag{4.25}$$

The $\ell_{sc} \to 0$ limit leaves only n = 1 as a physical solution; for all other solutions, $\ell_{sc} \to 0$ limit leaves an unphysical 'residual' temperature. An observant reader may point out that for low enough values of ℓ_{sc} , $T_{\text{eff}} < T$, but that is outside the validity of the above approximation. Moreover, the asymptotic temperature at large ℓ_{sc} provides an upperbound on the effective temperature. This is simply because we do not expect an operator with smaller ℓ_{sc} to create a thermal state at a higher temperature than an operator with higher ℓ_{sc} . The more general solution for the effective temperature needs to be computed



Figure 6. Plots for increasing values of ℓ_{sc} demonstrate that the solution for $\omega, \tilde{\omega}$ for a given x increases with increasing ℓ_{sc} . In the above plot, C = 567.605, $\beta = 2\pi$. The solution for $x = \beta$ is $\omega = \pi/\beta$ for all values of ℓ_{sc} . While the solution for x = 0 is $\tilde{\omega} = \pi/\beta$ for all values of ℓ_{sc} .

numerically, and can be inferred from figure 6. Note that the effective temperature due to the presence of the heavy operators is always greater than the background temperature, $T = 1/\beta$ that we start with. However, the effective temperature uniformly approaches zero as the background temperature $T \rightarrow 0$. This is *similar* to the result for the FZZT brane that we obtained in section 3 in that the effective temperature is proportional to the background temperature.

 $\mathfrak{C} = C/\beta$ is finite followed by $\mathfrak{C} \to \infty$. Correlation functions in this other limit were studied in [18] and we include their result for completeness of presentation. In their analysis they found that the four point function (two point function of the bilinears) does not show ETH, as the correlation function actually becomes periodic in real time. Written in Euclidean time, they find [18]

$$\frac{\langle \mathcal{O}_{\ell^H} \mathcal{O}_{\ell^L} \mathcal{O}_{\ell^L} \mathcal{O}_{\ell^H} \rangle}{\langle \mathcal{O}_{\ell^H} \mathcal{O}_{\ell^H} \rangle} \sim \left(\frac{\pi}{\beta_{\text{eff}} \sinh\left(\frac{2\pi\sigma_2}{\beta_{\text{eff}}}\right)} \right)^{2\ell^L}, \qquad \beta_{\text{eff}} = \frac{2\pi}{\ell_{sc}}.$$
 (4.26)

Drawing analogy with AdS_3/CFT_2 correspondence, this correlation function behaves like a correlation function computed in thermal AdS_3 . It would be interesting to obtain an analogous bulk interpretation for the case of AdS_2 .

4.2 Computations between ZZ and FZZT branes

We now use the relationship between 2D Liouville theory and the Schwarzian in the presence of FZZT branes. This allows us to write down the full Schwarzian correlation functions in the presence of coherent states of the type (1.4). As we shall see, their leading semiclassical limits will once more confirm our previous results obtained by other means.

4.2.1 Bilocal one-point function $\langle FZZT | \mathbb{V}_{\ell}(x, \bar{x}) | ZZ \rangle$

In this section we compute the special case of (2.39) with a single operator insertion using the FZZT-wavefunction given by (2.36),

$$\Psi_{FZZT}^{(s)}(P) := \langle FZZT | P \rangle = e^{2i\pi Ps} \left[-\frac{i}{2\pi P} \left(\frac{\gamma(b^2)}{8b^2} \right)^{-\frac{iP}{b}} \Gamma\left(1 + 2iPb\right) \Gamma\left(1 + 2\frac{iP}{b}\right) \right]$$
(4.27)

Recall, the variable s is related to the parameter r that labels the FZZT branes by equation (2.40). We are now ready to put together all the ingredients to compute the expectation value of a bilocal operator with respect to the FZZT boundary state. We start by writing down the full expression for $\langle \mathbb{V}_{\ell}(x,\bar{x}) \rangle_r := \langle \text{FZZT} | \mathbb{V}_{\ell}(x,\bar{x}) | \text{ZZ} \rangle$, which takes the form

$$\langle \mathbb{V}_{\ell}(x,\bar{x})\rangle_{r} = -2^{3/4} \int dP \, dR \, \frac{P}{R} e^{2\pi i Rs} \frac{\left(\frac{\gamma(b^{2})}{8b^{2}}\right)^{i\frac{P-R}{b}} \Gamma\left(1+2ibR\right) \Gamma\left(1+2i\frac{R}{b}\right)}{\Gamma\left(1+2ibP\right) \Gamma\left(1+2i\frac{P}{b}\right)} \left\langle \nu_{R} | \mathbb{V}_{\ell}(x,\bar{x}) | \nu_{P} \right\rangle \tag{4.28}$$

This expression differs from the pure ZZ one only in the measure factor where, roughly speaking, a ZZ brane corresponds to an insertion of $\sinh(2\pi\mathfrak{p})$, while an FZZT brane corresponds to an insertion of $\cos(2\pi\mathfrak{p})$. Once again, using (4.5), and performing the same kind of manipulations as for the pure ZZ case above, we can write,

$$\langle \mathbb{V}_{\ell}(x,\bar{x}) \rangle_{r} = -\frac{2^{3/4}}{2b} \left(8b^{4}\right)^{2\ell} \frac{b^{2}}{\pi} e^{-\frac{\pi\beta Q^{2}}{4a}} \int d\mathfrak{p}^{2} \, d\mathfrak{r} \, e^{2\pi(i\mathfrak{r}\hat{s}+\mathfrak{p})} \, e^{-\frac{\beta}{2C}\mathfrak{r}^{2}} e^{\frac{\sigma}{C}\left(\mathfrak{r}^{2}-\mathfrak{p}^{2}\right)} \, \frac{\Gamma\left(2\ell\pm i(\mathfrak{p}\pm\mathfrak{r})\right)}{\Gamma(4\ell)}.$$

$$(4.29)$$

Above, we have introduced a rescaled $\hat{s} = s b$ parameter for the FZZT brane. This scales the energy of the FZZT brane in an appropriate fashion from the 1D perspective. This can be easily seen by recalling that s is related to the parameter r in the boundary term, (2.7) by,

$$\cosh^{2}(\pi bs) = \frac{r^{2}}{2\pi b^{2}} \sin(\pi b^{2})$$

$$\downarrow b \to 0 \qquad (4.30)$$

$$1 + \frac{\pi^{2} b^{2} s^{2}}{2} \approx \frac{r^{2}}{2}$$

In the $b \to 0$ limit, r.h.s. of the above equation is an $\mathcal{O}(1)$ parameter, therefore $s \sim \frac{1}{b}$ which justifies our redefinition, $s = \hat{s}/b$.

Evaluating (4.29) using the saddle point integration method described above we get,

$$\langle \text{FZZT} | \mathbb{V}_{\ell}(x, \bar{x}) | \text{ZZ} \rangle \sim \left(\frac{1}{2 \sinh\left(\frac{2\pi}{\beta}\hat{s}\sigma\right)} \right)^{4\ell}$$
 (4.31)

Since σ is indeed Euclidean time in the Schwarzian theory, this result is thermal for the orbit when $\hat{s} \in i\mathbb{R}$ and non-thermal if $\hat{s} \in \mathbb{R}$. In the former case it is thermal at the effective temperature $\beta_{\text{eff}} = \beta/\hat{s}$. A similar result in 2D CFT was recently found in [22, 70].

We would also like to compute exact correlation function akin to eq. (3.11) above using these methods from 2D Liouville theory. However, the asymmetry of the configuration does not render it immediately amenable to employing the doubling trick and requires the development of the Feynman rules²² in the one-dimensional theory in the presence of insertion of the FZZT operators discussed in section 2.2. We will investigate these questions in our future work.

4.2.2 Bilocal two-point function $\langle FZZT | \mathbb{V}_{\ell_2}(x_2, \bar{x}_2) \mathbb{V}_{\ell_1}(x_1, \bar{x}_1) | ZZ \rangle$

Like in the previous case, we next compute the 2-point correlation function of the bilocal operators. From the perspective of 2-dimensional Liouville theory it is given by,

$$\langle \text{FZZT} | \mathbb{V}_{\ell_2}(x_2, \bar{x}_2) \mathbb{V}_{\ell_1}(x_1, \bar{x}_1) | \text{ZZ} \rangle = -2^{3/4} \int dP \, dR \frac{P}{R} e^{2\pi i R s} \left(\pi \mu \gamma(b^2) \right)^{i \frac{P-R}{b}} \\ \times \frac{\Gamma \left(1 + 2ibR \right) \Gamma \left(1 + 2i \frac{R}{b} \right)}{\Gamma \left(1 + 2ibP \right) \Gamma \left(1 + 2i \frac{P}{b} \right)} \left\langle \nu_R | \mathbb{V}_{\ell_2}(x_2, \bar{x}_2) \mathbb{V}_{\ell_1}(x_1, \bar{x}_1) | \nu_P \right\rangle , \quad (4.32)$$

and in 1-dimension, this expression reduces to,

$$\sim \int d\mathbf{r} d\mathbf{p}^2 \, d\mathbf{\mathfrak{d}}^2 \, e^{2\pi i \mathbf{r}\hat{s}} \sinh\left(2\pi \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}\right) \sinh\left(2\pi \mathbf{\mathfrak{d}}\right) \frac{\Gamma\left(2\ell^2 \pm i(\mathbf{\mathfrak{r}} \pm \mathbf{\mathfrak{d}})\right)}{\Gamma(4\ell^2)} \frac{\Gamma\left(2\ell^1 \pm i(\mathbf{\mathfrak{d}} \pm \mathbf{\mathfrak{p}})\right)}{\Gamma(4\ell^1)} \\ \times \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2C} \left(\beta \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}^2 + 2\sigma_2(\mathbf{\mathfrak{d}}^2 - \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}^2) + 2\sigma_1(\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}^2 - \mathbf{\mathfrak{d}}^2)\right)\right]. \tag{4.33}$$

Moreover, we can also compute the out-of-time-ordered correlation functions using the R-matrices. The exact expression for such an OTOC is given by,

$$\frac{\langle O_{\ell_2}(\sigma_3, \sigma_4) O_{\ell_1}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) \rangle}{\langle O_{\ell_2}(\sigma_3, \sigma_4) \rangle \langle O_{\ell_1}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) \rangle} \sim \int d\mathfrak{p}^2 d\mathfrak{r} d\mathfrak{p}_s^2 d\mathfrak{p}_t^2 \sinh(2\pi\mathfrak{p}) \cos(2\pi\mathfrak{r}\hat{s}) \sinh(2\pi\mathfrak{p}_s) \sinh(2\pi\mathfrak{p}_s) \sinh(2\pi\mathfrak{p}_t) \\ \times R_{\mathfrak{p}_s \mathfrak{p}_t} \begin{bmatrix} 2\ell_2 \ 2\ell_1 \\ \mathfrak{r} \end{bmatrix} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2C} \left(\mathfrak{p}^2(\beta - \sigma_{41}) - \mathfrak{p}_t^2 \sigma_{31} - \mathfrak{r}^2 \sigma_{32} - \mathfrak{p}_s^2 \sigma_{41} \right) \right] \qquad (4.34) \\ \times \frac{\sqrt{\Gamma(2\ell_1 \pm i(\mathfrak{p} \pm \mathfrak{p}_t))\Gamma(2\ell_2 \pm i(\mathfrak{r} \pm \mathfrak{p}_t))\Gamma(2\ell_1 \pm i(\mathfrak{r} \pm \mathfrak{p}_s))\Gamma(2\ell_2 \pm i(\mathfrak{p} \pm \mathfrak{p}_s))}{\Gamma(4\ell_1)\Gamma(4\ell_2)}$$

Once again, we bypass the exact computation of this integral and resort to the analysis of section 3.2 to argue that the Lyapunov exponent in this scenario will be given by $\lambda = 2\pi/\beta_{\text{eff}}$ where $\beta_{\text{eff}} = \beta/\hat{s}$.

4.3 Computations between two FZZT branes

Before moving on to the discussions section, for completeness we would like to gather exact results for correlation functions in the presence of FZZT branes at both ends, proceeding along similar lines as above.

4.3.1 $\langle \mathrm{FZZT} | \mathbb{V}_\ell(x, \bar{x}) | \mathrm{FZZT} angle$

This correlation function corresponds to one with two insertions of FZZT operators as shown in figure 7. Using the FZZT wavefunctions in (2.36), we can write this one-point

 $^{^{22}}$ Such Feynman rules are derived for the pure ZZ-ZZ case in [39].



Figure 7. The configuration of the insertions in the case of two FZZT operators.

function of the bilocal operator as follows,

$$\langle \text{FZZT} | \mathbb{V}_{\ell}(x,\bar{x}) | \text{FZZT} \rangle = \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \int dP \, dR \, \frac{1}{PR} e^{2\pi i (s\,R-s'\,P)} \left(\frac{\gamma(b^2)}{8b^2}\right)^{i\frac{T-R}{b}}$$

$$\times \left[\Gamma\left(1+2ibR\right) \Gamma\left(1+2i\frac{R}{b}\right) \Gamma\left(1-2ibP\right) \Gamma\left(1-2i\frac{P}{b}\right) \right] \langle \nu_R | \mathbb{V}_{\ell}(z,\bar{z}) | \nu_P \rangle .$$

$$(4.35)$$

Once again, using (4.5), we can write,

$$\langle \mathrm{FZZT} | \mathbb{V}_{\ell}(x,\bar{x}) | \mathrm{FZZT} \rangle = \frac{1}{2b} \left(8b^4 \right)^{2\ell} \frac{1}{\pi^2} e^{-\frac{2\beta\pi}{a} \frac{Q^2}{4}} \int d\mathfrak{p} \, d\mathfrak{r} \, \cos(2\pi \hat{s}\mathfrak{r}) \cos(2\pi \hat{s}'\mathfrak{p}) \\ \times \frac{\Gamma\left(2\ell \pm i(\mathfrak{p} \pm \mathfrak{r})\right)}{\Gamma(4\ell)} \, e^{-\frac{\beta}{2C}\mathfrak{r}^2} e^{\frac{\sigma}{C}(\mathfrak{r}^2 - \mathfrak{p}^2)} \,.$$
(4.36)

Above, we have introduced rescaled $\hat{s}, \hat{s}' = s b, s' b$ parameters for both the FZZT branes. Lastly, the saddle point evaluation of (4.36) in the $C \to \infty$ limit gives,

$$\langle \text{FZZT} | \mathbb{V}_{\ell}(x, \bar{x}) | \text{FZZT} \rangle \sim \left(\frac{1}{2 \sinh\left(2\pi \hat{s} + \frac{2\pi}{\beta} \left(\hat{s}' - \hat{s} - i\right)\sigma\right)} \right)^{4\ell}$$
 (4.37)

5 Discussion

We have undertaken a detailed study of the behavior of pure states of the Schwarzian theory as defined by the path integral (1.1). A table showing the different classes of states considered and their thermal properties is given in figure 8. Let us briefly review what has been established. From a many-body perspective this paper should be understood in conjunction with the numerical results of [16] and the analytical results of [48] to give a complete picture of the thermal properties of pure states of the SYK model. These studies taken together explicitly demonstrate the applicability of ETH both for the tower of massive states by studying the asymptotics of OPE coefficients in [48], as well as for the Schwarzian sector in the present work, by employing a combination of methods, all of which are ultimately linked to the Virasoro symmetry which shows up via the orbits

OC

state	2D picture	class	ETH	λ
$ E(k)\rangle$	ZZ	parabolic	~	$2\pi T_{\rm ETH}$
$ E_{r^{-}}\rangle$	FZZT	elliptic	~	$2\pi T_{\rm ETH}$
$ E_{r^+}\rangle$	FZZT	hyperbolic	×	$\in i\mathbb{R}$
$\mathcal{O}_{\ell_H} 0 angle$	ZZ	parabolic	~	

Figure 8. Panoramic summary of the pure states studied in this paper and their thermal properties. We see that in all cases where the system behaves thermally it satisfies maximal extended ETH (we did not compute the Lyapunov exponent in the last line of this table). The states $|E_{r^{\pm}}\rangle$ denote the coherent FZZT states for $r \geq \sqrt{2}$. The grey tick mark indicates that the states in question show only a weak form of ETH.

of $\text{Diff}(S^1)$. This is yet another demonstration of the usefulness of the SYK and SYKlike models as controllable theoretical laboratories of strongly coupled quantum chaotic systems. At the same time, these models serve as simple examples of holographic duality and the applicability of ETH has important implications for the physics of the dual black holes, as discussed in section 1.1.

It is natural to ask whether a more detailed investigation could unearth a story similar to the case of large-c 2D CFT, where sub-leading corrections necessitate a more refined analysis of thermalization to the generalized Gibbs ensemble of KdV charges (see, for example [82-87]). To this end, we note that we have the exact results of many relevant quantities at our disposal (see section 4), so one could in principle undertake a systematic expansion in large -C to address this question. A second important angle is the maximal extended ETH conjecture made in [16] and in this paper: the IR limit of the SYK model as well as other similar many-body theories (such as the melonic tensor models) scramble with the maximally allowed exponent $2\pi/\beta_{\text{eff}}$ predicted from the ETH as applied to simple operators. It would be interesting to further explore whether there are universal critical phenomena associated to the ergodic / non-ergodic transition established here, and linked to the critical parabolic orbit of Virasoro. A possible connection between ETH and the Lyapunov behavior was first suggested in [16] and later formalized in [88], who point out the general structure of non-Gaussianities this implies for the statistics of off-diagonal matrix elements in the energy basis. It would be of interest to compute these non-Gaussianities explicitly in the present model, but for this we would need to extend our results to offdiagonal matrix elements.

Such an expansion of the exact results would naturally be of interest also in discussion of how the correlation function deviates from semi-classical bulk EFT expectations, as discussed in various recent analyses, such as for example [15, 35, 89, 90].

It is interesting to note that an ergodic to non-ergodic phase transition was also found in [91, 92] within pure states of the SYK model. However, the connection with the pure states of the above paper is presently not clear and begs a more detailed analysis. An interesting aspect with potentially important ramifications for holography is the close connection between ETH and approximate quantum error correction pointed out in [93]. Combining their results with what has been established in this work, implies as a corollary that heavy eigenstates of SYK-like models (more precisely their IR Schwarzian limit) form an approximate quantum error correcting code (AQECC). It would be very interesting to investigate what more can be said about the properties of the AQECC hosted by the eigenstates of SYK-like models in the light of the OTOC version of ETH we found. Recent investigations linking ETH to AQECC in chaotic theories, including holographic ones, have appeared in [94], while [95] link complexity of time evolution to ETH-type behavior.

An alternative approach to relate spectral statistics and Lyapunov behavior is developed in [96–98] who introduce new measures of quantum chaos defined in terms of the random nature of matrices of correlation functions of all the operators in a system. Given the exact results developed in this work, it would be interesting to attempt compute these measures in the Schwarzian theory.

We would like to end by reiterating an important remark about our results demonstrating ETH. For a complete proof of eigenstate thermalization in a system it is indispensable to demonstrate the exponential suppression of the off-diagonal matrix elements with respect to the diagonal terms. This was addressed numerically in [16], as well as analytically in the conformal limit in [48]. Our present work focused on the study of the diagonal terms only, so it will be important to generalize our techniques to allow the determination of the behavior of the off-diagonal terms.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Tarek Anous, Tolya Dymarsky, Daniel Jafferis, Kristan Jensen and Thomas Mertens for very helpful conversations on the subject of this paper. This work has been supported by the Fonds National Suisse de la Recherche Scientifique (Schweizerischer Nationalfonds zur Förderung der wissenschaftlichen Forschung) through Project Grants 200021 162796 and 200020 182513 as well as the NCCR 51NF40-141869 "The Mathematics of Physics" (SwissMAP). PN acknowledges support from the College of Arts and Sciences of the University of Kentucky.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- J. Maldacena and D. Stanford, Remarks on the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 106002 [arXiv:1604.07818] [INSPIRE].
- [2] S. Sachdev and J. Ye, Gapless spin fluid ground state in a random, quantum Heisenberg magnet, Phys. Rev. Lett. 70 (1993) 3339 [cond-mat/9212030] [INSPIRE].
- [3] A. Kitaev, A simple model of quantum holography (part 1), talk at KITP, University of California, Santa Barbara, CA, U.S.A., 7 April 2015.

- [4] A. Kitaev, A simple model of quantum holography (part 2), talk at KITP, University of California, Santa Barbara, CA, U.S.A., 27 May 2015.
- [5] R. Gurau, The 1/N expansion of colored tensor models, Annales Henri Poincaré 12 (2011) 829 [arXiv:1011.2726] [INSPIRE].
- [6] E. Witten, An SYK-like model without disorder, J. Phys. A 52 (2019) 474002
 [arXiv:1610.09758] [INSPIRE].
- [7] I.R. Klebanov and G. Tarnopolsky, Uncolored random tensors, melon diagrams and the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev models, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 046004 [arXiv:1611.08915] [INSPIRE].
- [8] K. Jensen, Chaos in AdS₂ holography, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) 111601 [arXiv:1605.06098] [INSPIRE].
- [9] J. Maldacena, D. Stanford and Z. Yang, Conformal symmetry and its breaking in two dimensional nearly anti-de-Sitter space, PTEP 2016 (2016) 12C104 [arXiv:1606.01857]
 [INSPIRE].
- [10] J. Engelsöy, T.G. Mertens and H. Verlinde, An investigation of AdS₂ backreaction and holography, JHEP 07 (2016) 139 [arXiv:1606.03438] [INSPIRE].
- G. Mandal, P. Nayak and S.R. Wadia, Coadjoint orbit action of Virasoro group and two-dimensional quantum gravity dual to SYK/tensor models, JHEP 11 (2017) 046
 [arXiv:1702.04266] [INSPIRE].
- [12] R. Jackiw, Lower dimensional gravity, Nucl. Phys. B 252 (1985) 343 [INSPIRE].
- [13] C. Teitelboim, Gravitation and Hamiltonian structure in two space-time dimensions, Phys. Lett. B 126 (1983) 41 [INSPIRE].
- [14] G. Turiaci and H. Verlinde, On CFT and quantum chaos, JHEP 12 (2016) 110
 [arXiv:1603.03020] [INSPIRE].
- [15] T. Anous, T. Hartman, A. Rovai and J. Sonner, Black hole collapse in the 1/c expansion, JHEP 07 (2016) 123 [arXiv:1603.04856] [INSPIRE].
- [16] J. Sonner and M. Vielma, Eigenstate thermalization in the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model, JHEP 11 (2017) 149 [arXiv:1707.08013] [INSPIRE].
- [17] T. Anous, T. Hartman, A. Rovai and J. Sonner, From conformal blocks to path integrals in the Vaidya geometry, JHEP 09 (2017) 009 [arXiv:1706.02668] [INSPIRE].
- [18] H.T. Lam, T.G. Mertens, G.J. Turiaci and H. Verlinde, Shockwave S-matrix from Schwarzian quantum mechanics, JHEP 11 (2018) 182 [arXiv:1804.09834] [INSPIRE].
- [19] S. Banerjee, J.-W. Brijan and G. Vos, On the universality of late-time correlators in semi-classical 2d CFTs, JHEP 08 (2018) 047 [arXiv:1805.06464] [INSPIRE].
- [20] G. Vos, Vacuum block thermalization in semi-classical 2d CFT, JHEP 02 (2019) 022 [arXiv:1810.03630] [INSPIRE].
- [21] T. Anous and J. Sonner, Phases of scrambling in eigenstates, SciPost Phys. 7 (2019) 003 [arXiv:1903.03143] [INSPIRE].
- [22] K. Jensen, Scrambling in nearly thermalized states at large central charge, arXiv:1906.05852 [INSPIRE].
- [23] A. Kitaev and S.J. Suh, The soft mode in the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model and its gravity dual, JHEP 05 (2018) 183 [arXiv:1711.08467] [INSPIRE].

- [24] J.M. Deutsch, Quantum statistical mechanics in a closed system, Phys. Rev. A 43 (1991) 2046.
- [25] M. Srednicki, Chaos and quantum thermalization, Phys. Rev. E 50 (1994) 888.
- [26] L. D'Alessio, Y. Kafri, A. Polkovnikov and M. Rigol, From quantum chaos and eigenstate thermalization to statistical mechanics and thermodynamics, Adv. Phys. 65 (2016) 239 [arXiv:1509.06411] [INSPIRE].
- [27] N. Lashkari, A. Dymarsky and H. Liu, Eigenstate thermalization hypothesis in conformal field theory, J. Stat. Mech. 1803 (2018) 033101 [arXiv:1610.00302] [INSPIRE].
- [28] N. Lashkari, A. Dymarsky and H. Liu, Universality of quantum information in chaotic CFTs, JHEP 03 (2018) 070 [arXiv:1710.10458] [INSPIRE].
- [29] J. De Boer, R. Van Breukelen, S.F. Lokhande, K. Papadodimas and E. Verlinde, Probing typical black hole microstates, JHEP 01 (2020) 062 [arXiv:1901.08527] [INSPIRE].
- [30] A. Alekseev and S.L. Shatashvili, Path integral quantization of the coadjoint orbits of the Virasoro group and 2D gravity, Nucl. Phys. B 323 (1989) 719 [INSPIRE].
- [31] A. Alekseev and S.L. Shatashvili, From geometric quantization to conformal field theory, Commun. Math. Phys. **128** (1990) 197 [INSPIRE].
- [32] V. Fateev, A.B. Zamolodchikov and A.B. Zamolodchikov, *Boundary Liouville field theory*. 1. Boundary state and boundary two point function, hep-th/0001012 [INSPIRE].
- [33] A.B. Zamolodchikov and A.B. Zamolodchikov, *Liouville field theory on a pseudosphere*, hep-th/0101152 [INSPIRE].
- [34] P. Saad, S.H. Shenker and D. Stanford, JT gravity as a matrix integral, arXiv:1903.11115 [INSPIRE].
- [35] J.S. Cotler et al., Black holes and random matrices, JHEP 05 (2017) 118 [Erratum ibid. 09 (2018) 002] [arXiv:1611.04650] [INSPIRE].
- [36] A. del Campo, J. Molina-Vilaplana and J. Sonner, Scrambling the spectral form factor: unitarity constraints and exact results, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 126008 [arXiv:1702.04350]
 [INSPIRE].
- [37] A. Altland and D. Bagrets, Quantum ergodicity in the SYK model, Nucl. Phys. B 930 (2018) 45 [arXiv:1712.05073] [INSPIRE].
- [38] P. Saad, S.H. Shenker and D. Stanford, A semiclassical ramp in SYK and in gravity, arXiv:1806.06840 [INSPIRE].
- [39] T.G. Mertens, G.J. Turiaci and H.L. Verlinde, Solving the Schwarzian via the conformal bootstrap, JHEP 08 (2017) 136 [arXiv:1705.08408] [INSPIRE].
- [40] J. de Boer, R. Van Breukelen, S.F. Lokhande, K. Papadodimas and E. Verlinde, On the interior geometry of a typical black hole microstate, JHEP 05 (2019) 010 [arXiv:1804.10580] [INSPIRE].
- [41] J. Maldacena, S.H. Shenker and D. Stanford, A bound on chaos, JHEP 08 (2016) 106
 [arXiv:1503.01409] [INSPIRE].
- [42] X.O. Camanho, J.D. Edelstein, J. Maldacena and A. Zhiboedov, Causality constraints on corrections to the graviton three-point coupling, JHEP 02 (2016) 020 [arXiv:1407.5597]
 [INSPIRE].

- [43] N. Afkhami-Jeddi, T. Hartman, S. Kundu and A. Tajdini, Einstein gravity 3-point functions from conformal field theory, JHEP 12 (2017) 049 [arXiv:1610.09378] [INSPIRE].
- [44] A. Belin, D.M. Hofman and G. Mathys, Einstein gravity from ANEC correlators, JHEP 08 (2019) 032 [arXiv:1904.05892] [INSPIRE].
- [45] M. Kologlu, P. Kravchuk, D. Simmons-Duffin and A. Zhiboedov, Shocks, superconvergence and a stringy equivalence principle, arXiv:1904.05905 [INSPIRE].
- [46] F.M. Haehl, R. Loganayagam, P. Narayan and M. Rangamani, Classification of out-of-time-order correlators, SciPost Phys. 6 (2019) 001 [arXiv:1701.02820] [INSPIRE].
- [47] F.M. Haehl and M. Rozali, *Fine grained chaos in AdS₂ gravity*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **120** (2018)
 121601 [arXiv:1712.04963] [INSPIRE].
- [48] P. Nayak, J. Sonner and M. Vielma, Eigenstate thermalisation in the conformal Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model: an analytic approach, JHEP 10 (2019) 019 [arXiv:1903.00478]
 [INSPIRE].
- [49] T.G. Mertens and G.J. Turiaci, Defects in Jackiw-Teitelboim quantum gravity, JHEP 08 (2019) 127 [arXiv:1904.05228] [INSPIRE].
- [50] N. Seiberg and D. Shih, Minimal string theory, Comptes Rendus Physique 6 (2005) 165 [hep-th/0409306] [INSPIRE].
- [51] E.J. Martinec, The annular report on noncritical string theory, hep-th/0305148 [INSPIRE].
- [52] T.G. Mertens, *The Schwarzian theory origins*, *JHEP* **05** (2018) 036 [arXiv:1801.09605] [INSPIRE].
- [53] J. Teschner, Remarks on Liouville theory with boundary, PoS(tmr2000)041 (2000) [hep-th/0009138] [INSPIRE].
- [54] H. Dorn and G. Jorjadze, Boundary Liouville theory: Hamiltonian description and quantization, SIGMA 3 (2007) 012 [hep-th/0610197] [INSPIRE].
- [55] J.L. Cardy, Conformal invariance and surface critical behavior, Nucl. Phys. B 240 (1984) 514 [INSPIRE].
- [56] H. Dorn and G. Jorjadze, Operator approach to boundary Liouville theory, Annals Phys. 323 (2008) 2799 [arXiv:0801.3206] [INSPIRE].
- [57] W. Magnus and S. Winkler, *Hill's equation*, Interscience Publishers, John Wiley & Sons, New York, NY, U.S.A., London, U.K. and Sydney, NSW, Australia (1966).
- [58] E. Witten, Coadjoint orbits of the Virasoro group, Commun. Math. Phys. 114 (1988) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [59] A.B. Zamolodchikov, Conformal scalar field on the hyperelliptic curve and critical Ashkin-Teller multipoint correlation functions, Nucl. Phys. B 285 (1987) 481 [INSPIRE].
- [60] T. Hartman, Entanglement entropy at large central charge, arXiv:1303.6955 [INSPIRE].
- [61] J.-L. Gervais and A. Neveu, The dual string spectrum in Polyakov's quantization. 1, Nucl. Phys. B 199 (1982) 59 [INSPIRE].
- [62] J.-L. Gervais and A. Neveu, Dual string spectrum in Polyakov's quantization. 2. Mode separation, Nucl. Phys. B 209 (1982) 125 [INSPIRE].
- [63] J. Polchinski and V. Rosenhaus, The spectrum in the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model, JHEP 04 (2016) 001 [arXiv:1601.06768] [INSPIRE].

- [64] D. Stanford and E. Witten, Fermionic localization of the Schwarzian theory, JHEP 10 (2017) 008 [arXiv:1703.04612] [INSPIRE].
- [65] Y. Nakayama, Liouville field theory: a decade after the revolution, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 19 (2004) 2771 [hep-th/0402009] [INSPIRE].
- [66] N. Ishibashi, The boundary and crosscap states in conformal field theories, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 4 (1989) 251 [INSPIRE].
- [67] T. Onogi and N. Ishibashi, Conformal field theories on surfaces with boundaries and crosscaps, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 4 (1989) 161 [Erratum ibid. A 4 (1989) 885] [INSPIRE].
- [68] D. Bagrets, A. Altland and A. Kamenev, Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model as Liouville quantum mechanics, Nucl. Phys. B 911 (2016) 191 [arXiv:1607.00694] [INSPIRE].
- [69] D. Bagrets, A. Altland and A. Kamenev, Power-law out of time order correlation functions in the SYK model, Nucl. Phys. B 921 (2017) 727 [arXiv:1702.08902] [INSPIRE].
- [70] J.R. David, T.J. Hollowood, S. Khetrapal and S.P. Kumar, Chaos bound in Bershadsky-Polyakov theory, JHEP 10 (2019) 077 [arXiv:1906.00667] [INSPIRE].
- [71] D. Anninos, D.A. Galante and D.M. Hofman, De Sitter horizons & holographic liquids, JHEP 07 (2019) 038 [arXiv:1811.08153] [INSPIRE].
- [72] B. Ponsot and J. Teschner, *Liouville bootstrap via harmonic analysis on a noncompact quantum group*, hep-th/9911110 [INSPIRE].
- [73] D.A. Roberts and D. Stanford, Two-dimensional conformal field theory and the butterfly effect, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 131603 [arXiv:1412.5123] [INSPIRE].
- [74] V. Bonzom, R. Gurau, A. Riello and V. Rivasseau, Critical behavior of colored tensor models in the large N limit, Nucl. Phys. B 853 (2011) 174 [arXiv:1105.3122] [INSPIRE].
- [75] J. Yoon, A bound on chaos from stability, arXiv:1905.08815 [INSPIRE].
- [76] A.L. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan and M.T. Walters, Virasoro conformal blocks and thermality from classical background fields, JHEP 11 (2015) 200 [arXiv:1501.05315] [INSPIRE].
- [77] J. Cotler and K. Jensen, A theory of reparameterizations for AdS₃ gravity, JHEP 02 (2019)
 079 [arXiv:1808.03263] [INSPIRE].
- [78] F.M. Haehl and M. Rozali, Effective field theory for chaotic CFTs, JHEP 10 (2018) 118
 [arXiv:1808.02898] [INSPIRE].
- [79] I.S. Gradshteyn and I.M. Ryzhik, *Table of integrals, series and products*, seventh ed., Elsevier/Academic Press, Amsterdam, The Netherlands (2007).
- [80] H. Dorn and H.J. Otto, Two and three point functions in Liouville theory, Nucl. Phys. B 429 (1994) 375 [hep-th/9403141] [INSPIRE].
- [81] A.B. Zamolodchikov and A.B. Zamolodchikov, Structure constants and conformal bootstrap in Liouville field theory, Nucl. Phys. B 477 (1996) 577 [hep-th/9506136] [INSPIRE].
- [82] P. Basu, D. Das, S. Datta and S. Pal, Thermality of eigenstates in conformal field theories, Phys. Rev. E 96 (2017) 022149 [arXiv:1705.03001] [INSPIRE].
- [83] A. Dymarsky and K. Pavlenko, Generalized Gibbs ensemble of 2d CFTs at large central charge in the thermodynamic limit, JHEP **01** (2019) 098 [arXiv:1810.11025] [INSPIRE].
- [84] S. Datta, P. Kraus and B. Michel, Typicality and thermality in 2d CFT, JHEP 07 (2019) 143 [arXiv:1904.00668] [INSPIRE].

- [85] A. Maloney, G.S. Ng, S.F. Ross and I. Tsiares, Generalized Gibbs ensemble and the statistics of KdV charges in 2D CFT, JHEP 03 (2019) 075 [arXiv:1810.11054] [INSPIRE].
- [86] A. Maloney, G.S. Ng, S.F. Ross and I. Tsiares, Thermal correlation functions of KdV charges in 2D CFT, JHEP 02 (2019) 044 [arXiv:1810.11053] [INSPIRE].
- [87] A. Dymarsky and K. Pavlenko, Generalized eigenstate thermalization hypothesis in 2D conformal field theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 123 (2019) 111602 [arXiv:1903.03559] [INSPIRE].
- [88] L. Foini and J. Kurchan, Eigenstate thermalization hypothesis and out of time order correlators, Phys. Rev. E 99 (2019) 042139 [arXiv:1803.10658] [INSPIRE].
- [89] N. Iizuka and J. Polchinski, A matrix model for black hole thermalization, JHEP 10 (2008) 028 [arXiv:0801.3657] [INSPIRE].
- [90] A.L. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan, D. Li and J. Wang, On information loss in AdS₃/CFT₂, JHEP 05 (2016) 109 [arXiv:1603.08925] [INSPIRE].
- [91] I. Kourkoulou and J. Maldacena, Pure states in the SYK model and nearly-AdS₂ gravity, arXiv:1707.02325 [INSPIRE].
- [92] A. Dhar, A. Gaikwad, L.K. Joshi, G. Mandal and S.R. Wadia, Gravitational collapse in SYK models and Choptuik-like phenomenon, JHEP 11 (2019) 067 [arXiv:1812.03979] [INSPIRE].
- [93] F.G. S.L. Brandao, E. Crosson, M.B. Şahinoğlu and J. Bowen, Quantum error correcting codes in eigenstates of translation-invariant spin chains, Phys. Rev. Lett. 123 (2019) 110502
 [arXiv:1710.04631] [INSPIRE].
- [94] N. Bao and N. Cheng, Eigenstate thermalization hypothesis and approximate quantum error correction, JHEP 08 (2019) 152 [arXiv:1906.03669] [INSPIRE].
- [95] V. Balasubramanian, M. Decross, A. Kar and O. Parrikar, Quantum complexity of time evolution with chaotic hamiltonians, JHEP 01 (2020) 134 [arXiv:1905.05765] [INSPIRE].
- [96] M. Hanada, H. Shimada and M. Tezuka, Universality in chaos: Lyapunov spectrum and random matrix theory, Phys. Rev. E 97 (2018) 022224 [arXiv:1702.06935] [INSPIRE].
- [97] H. Gharibyan, M. Hanada, B. Swingle and M. Tezuka, *Quantum Lyapunov spectrum*, *JHEP* 04 (2019) 082 [arXiv:1809.01671] [INSPIRE].
- [98] H. Gharibyan, M. Hanada, B. Swingle and M. Tezuka, A characterization of quantum chaos by two-point correlation functions, arXiv:1902.11086 [INSPIRE].